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Thursday, April 21, 2011

--- On commencing at 9:38 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Good morning.  We are sitting this morning in the file -- on a motion brought on File No. EB-2010-0184, which is an application to review assessments issued by the Ontario Energy Board pursuant to section 26.1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act and Ontario Regulation 66/10.

This is a motion brought by the Consumers Council of Canada for an order for the production of complete and unredacted copies of documents provided by the Attorney General in response to questions taken under advisement during an examination of Barry Beale on November 16th, 2010, and an order compelling the re-attendance of Mr. Beale to answer further questions arising from the production of the documents.

Could I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. WARREN:  Yes.  My name is Robert Warren.  I appear for the moving parties, the Consumers Council of Canada and Aubrey LeBlanc.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Peter Thompson for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. CHARNEY:  Robert Charney for the Ontario Attorney General's Office.

MS. SPOEL:  You have to press the button to make the microphone work in this room.  Any other appearances?

MR. VIRANI:  Yes, I am also accompanying Mr. Charney.  My name is Arif Virani.  I am also with the Attorney General's office.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Ms. Conboy.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I'm joined today by Ms. Gona Jaff, and I should note that -- you may have seen this, but there was a letter filed yesterday evening by APPrO essentially supporting the positions of the moving parties, CCC and CME.  Ms. DeMarco asked that I bring that to your attention, so I have now done so.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

MR. VEGH:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Ms. Conboy.  George Vegh on behalf of the intervenor, Union Gas.  I am joined by Mark Kitchen, director of regulatory affairs at Union.

MS. SPOEL:  Is that it?

MR. VIRANI:  Would you like us to introduce our articling students and other staff?

MS. SPOEL:  We have had the opportunity of reviewing the prefiled materials, which are very helpful.  Thank you.  And it seems to us -- well, first of all, we understand that the Attorney General has conceded that Mr. Beale can re-attend for cross-examination, and the only issue might be what -- the nature of the questions that he is to answer.

So we obviously don't need to hear any argument on that issue, that narrow issue.

With respect to the documents in question, I think that the Attorney General also conceded that it's appropriate at least -- or permissible at least for the Board Panel to look at the unredacted documents to determine the extent to which they might or might not be relevant or protected by solicitor-client privilege, or portions of them might be.

So it would be very helpful to the Panel to have argument focussed on what the tests are that we should apply to that review, because I really think that's what the crux of this matter is.  To the extent that a document can be partly relevant and partly not I think is one issue.  And, also, assuming we accept that a part of a document might not be relevant, what test should we be applying to make that determination, in general, keeping in mind of course that without having read them, it's hard in the abstract -- sometimes it's hard in the abstract, but sometimes a more abstract argument is also a helpful one when we get to the stage of actually looking at them.

Does that seem like an approach that is appropriate?

MR. WARREN:  It's fine with me.  I am not sure the extent to which that narrows my submissions, because I was going to deal with the fulcrum test, in any event, so...

If you would like me to begin, Madam Chair, I will?

MS. SPOEL:  Unless there are any other preliminary matters.

MR. CHARNEY:  No, I think you have hit the two issues we have to address today, is:  Can we redact documents, and are these documents appropriately redacted?

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Warren, over to you.

Submissions by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, you should have before you for my submissions the motion record of the moving parties, our factum and our book of authorities.  I think it's appropriate, Madam Chair and Ms. Conboy, that I begin with some brief background to what bring us here today.

My clients have challenged the constitutional validity of section 26.1 of the OEB Act.  The section requires the Board to assess local distribution companies with respect to expenses incurred by the Ministry for a broad array of programs.  Those programs are set out in section 26.2.

Although the LDCs are assessed, they can recover the assessments from ratepayers, and indeed they have done so to the tune of approximately $53 million.

Section 92 of the Constitution Act allows the province to levy direct taxes.  A tax is indirect if it is levied against a person -- one person, but paid by another.  And by that standard, section 26.1 authorizes an indirect tax.

On its face, therefore, we say it is unconstitutional.  It may still be valid if it is found by you to be a regulatory charge.

The position of the Attorney General, as we understand it, is that this is a valid regulatory charge.  And the central issue, when we get to argue the substance of our motion, is whether the levies at issue can be characterized properly as a regulatory charge.

Now, on cross-examination of Mr. Beale, it was revealed, indeed in his affidavit which gave rise to the cross-examination, that there are in fact only two programs that have been -- for which charges have been levied under section 26.1.

With sort of broad-brush overview of them, they provide subsidies to undertake certain conservation measures.  Both are voluntary.  Both, the evidence indicates, were administered by the federal government according to federal criteria.  Neither of the programs were administered by this Board, and they have no relationship -- and this is an issue which Mr. Charney and I will argue, no doubt, at length in the substantive area, but it is my position that these programs have no relationship at all to what is commonly accepted and understood in this province to be the regulatory system.

So our position is that they are not, on their face, part of a regulatory regime or regulatory scheme.

The issue which arises, in part, is how the government characterizes these programs as part of a regulatory scheme.  Why did the government decide to include these two programs within what it calls a regulatory scheme?  And the questions that were directed at Mr. Beale, in part, broadly speaking, were attempting to determine what the Ministry thought could be characterized or could not be characterized as a program within a regulatory scheme.

Was, for example, the criterion that a mechanism existed -- a simple cost recovery mechanism existed in the form of the rate system for LDCs that allow the amount to be recovered, and, if so, arguably, this is not part of a regulatory scheme.

The Attorney General took a number of questions under advisement and they responded to them, in part, thereby conceding that in part the questions were eliciting relevant information, but they redacted very substantial parts of the answer because of their view that it was irrelevant.

It is our position that it is clear on the law of Ontario that they are not allowed to do that.  At this stage - and it's important to remember where we are at this stage in the process - we are -- if you want to use the analogy of the civil system, we are at the discovery phase.

We are attempting to elicit facts which we will use ultimately in our submission on the substantive issue, and we will submit on the authorities that the bias of the tribunal as of a court should be to require the production of all evidence unless -- and this is important to recognize -- to use the word repeatedly used by the courts -- the evidence is clearly irrelevant, and its admission would offend some other principle, for example, privacy.

The use of the word "clearly" is something that my friend repeatedly glosses over in his submissions, but that's the test.  Is the evidence -- is he entitled to redact the evidence?  We say no, but if the argument is whether or not it should be allowed, the test is whether it is clearly irrelevant and its admission would violate some principle.

And the onus, in our respectful submission, of establishing that, again on the authority of the cases, clearly lies with my friend.

Now, against that background, Madam Chair, you have indicated that you have read the material, and I won't repeat it, but I think some basic principles are in order.  And the place I would like to start is with -- first of all, I think it's important to recognize that we are not here today arguing the substance of our motion; we are here arguing about the production of materials.

Now, if the Panel would turn up at tab 1 of our authorities, a decision of Justice Strathy in the Superior court in the case of McGee and London Life Insurance Company.  This is a decision which was issued in January –- sorry, March of 2010, and the McGee decision represents, in my respectful submission, the state of the law in Ontario.  And I don't think my friend challenges that it is the state of the law in Ontario.

If you look at paragraph 2 of the decision, it sets out what the issue is before Justice Strathy.  I quote:

"The issue on the motion before me is whether London Life can be compelled to produce unredacted copies of documents that were requested on the examination of its affiant and which it has produced in redacted form, disclosing only those portions that it considers relevant."

So the issue before Justice Strathy was the same issue, in effect, that's before you today.

If I turn you over to the next page, paragraph 8, Justice Strathy sets out in clear and unambiguous language the principle.  I quote:

"It is impermissible for a party to redact portions of a relevant document simply on the basis of its assertion that those portions are not relevant."

That's the principle.  That's the state of the law in this province.

Now, if you go down to paragraph 9:

"The whole of a relevant document must be produced except to the extent it contains information that would cause significant harm to the producing party or would infringe public interests deserving of protection."

So there are exceptions to this clearly articulated principle.

Now, we say that the principles that govern your analysis today are the following.

A party may not unilaterally redact documents on the basis of evidence.

Secondly, redactions will only be permitted in narrowly prescribed circumstances.  Redactions based on relevance will only be permitted where, after review by the parties and the court, the court determines that redacted materials are clearly irrelevant, and where a document or materials are otherwise relevant, the portions that are arguably not relevant will be produced and be subject to arguments about weight.

Now, taking the -- what I will call the McGee principle, what are the exceptions that Justice Strathy posits?  And they are the following.

Where the documents are subject to solicitor-client privilege; secondly, where the parties are business competitors and the information which is not relevant may be sensitive in nature; thirdly, where the information involves patents or trade secrets; fourthly, where the documents involve personal tax information; fifthly, where the record contain information of a purely private and personal nature, and not relevant to the issues except –-except, sorry, for example, sensitive medical information.

We say none of those exceptions have been established by my friend; none.

So the governing principle is you can't redact for relevance.

Now, if you turn, then, to a further articulation, if you wish, of the principle on the next page, at paragraph 13 of Justice Strathy's decision, I quote:

"Irrelevance alone is not a sufficient ground on which to redact portions of a document.  The party seeking to do so bears the onus of establishing that redaction is necessary to protect an important interest."

The onus lies with my friend to establish that there is some important interest to be protected.  Now, I am going to get, somewhat later, to what I saw is the somewhat sly and indirect way that my friend argues that the gravamen of his argument on this exception is that these documents are sensitive because they are Cabinet documents.

What's clear is that if you want to make an argument about cabinet documents, you have to make an argument about Crown immunity, and my friend waived that argument.  He tried to get it in through the back door later in his factum, but he has waived that argument.

So it will be the burden of my argument -- it is the burden of my argument -- that my friend has simply failed to establish that there is an exception within the analysis of Justice Strathy that protects these documents.

Now, let me turn briefly to our position -- I will return to it later, somewhat later, in dealing with my friend's position -- on relevance.

Now, the jurisprudence, as I have said, cited by myself and my friend, establishes that in order for this to be a valid charge, it has to be part of a regulatory scheme.  And in order to determine that on the facts of this case, because each case is fact-specific, the Board has to consider a number of tests: whether the special purpose charge is intended for a public purpose; whether the special purpose charge is connected to a regulatory scheme; whether the special purpose charge seeks to affect some behaviour; whether the presence of actual or properly estimated cost -- whether there is the presence of properly or actual estimated costs to the regulation; and whether there is a relationship between the person being regulated and the regulation.

But the important thing to recognize at this stage -- and I will return to this when I look at some of the case law -- is that this is not an exhaustive list.  And the challenge for this Board, when it comes to hear the substance of it, will be to look at all of the evidence to see whether or not this is a regulatory charge.

And what we are trying to do with our examination of Mr. Beale and by seeking these documents is to get the evidence out that allows us to make the argument, the evidence which is solely in the possession of my friend.

So we say that on the issue of regulatory charge, this evidence is relevant.  How does the government characterize these programs, as opposed to others, so that they become properly characterized as a regulatory charge and others are not?

I am going to turn to my friend's case, which is lengthy.  We have two massive volumes of authorities.  We have a 37-page factum.  But when you boil it down, when you boil it down, this endlessly repeated kind of fugue of an argument, there are only two issues, only two arguments in my friend's case.

The first of these deals with the special nature of these documents.  The argument is that these documents are redacted because they require special protection.

The second argument is that they are not relevant.

Let me deal with the first of those arguments.  Now, the hearing of this application was delayed for some time, on consent, to allow the Attorney General to determine whether or not it wished to make a claim for Crown privilege, Crown immunity.  There are a variety of -- public interest immunity is another term used for it.

Ultimately we heard from the Attorney General that they were not going to make that claim.  However, it is striking to note, if you look at my friend's factum, at paragraph 3 of the factum, the very first case that my friend cites, the very first case he cites is a case called Carey v. Ontario, and what's Carey v. Ontario about?  Crown immunity.

Now, if you look at the Carey case, which is found at tab 37 of my friend's book of authorities, tab 37, my first reference will be to paragraph 22, which appears on page 8 of the reported decision.  At paragraph 22, the court expresses -- sets out what I say is the general principle.
"It is obviously necessary for the proper administration of justice that litigants have access to all evidence that may be of assistance to the fair disposition of the issues arising in litigation."


That's the principle.

What the case then goes on to deal with is whether or not and in what circumstances certain categories of Cabinet documents are to be protected by this Crown immunity or public interest immunity.  But the important provision appears at paragraph 38, part of which is side-barred, but not all of it.  I quote:
"The public interest in the non-disclosure of the document is not, as Thorson J.A. noted in the Court of Appeal, a Crown privilege.  Rather it is more properly called a public interest immunity, one that, in the final analysis, is for the court to weigh.  The court may itself raise the issue of its application, as indeed counsel may..."

Now, the rest of it isn't side-barred, but it's very important:
"...but the most usual and appropriate way to raise it is by means of a certificate by the affidavit of a Minister or where, as in this case, a statute permits it or it is otherwise appropriate, of a senior public servant.  The opinion of the Minister (or official) must be given due consideration, but its weight will vary with the nature of the public interest sought to be protected.  And it must be weighed against the need for producing it in the particular case."

There is no affidavit in this case deposing to the sensitive nature of these documents.  My friend has not followed the procedure prescribed by the Supreme Court of Canada:  Make a claim for the special nature of these documents.  And I say, with respect, he is not entitled to argue thereafter that they have any special need for protection.

However, notwithstanding that, woven throughout his entire argument are repeated references to the fact that these documents require special protection.  Indeed, he cites a number of cases that turn on the issue of whether or not Crown immunity should apply, having waived the fact that he was going to make the argument.  You can't have it both ways.

So I say, with respect, that not having followed the prescribed procedure, that my friend cannot claim the benefit of some special protection for these documents.

Going back to the Strathy principles, it's impermissible to redact for relevance.  There may be exceptions where you can establish that these documents, the documents in question, require some special protection.  The argument from my friend has to be, because it's woven throughout his case, that they are Cabinet documents, but he hasn't followed the procedure to establish that.

He hasn't put in an affidavit from the Minister saying, This is why these documents require special protection.  I say, with respect, he hasn't established, then, the exception which is allowed in the Strathy principles.

Let me turn, then, to the second component of my friend's case, which is the argument about relevance.  Now, what my friend argues is that somehow the universe of your factual and my factual examination is prescribed, limited - proscribed, I am sorry - by the Supreme Court of Canada decisions dealing with direct and indirect taxes, and he cites the Westbank case, in particular.  And that appears at tab 4 of my book of authorities.

I hope, Ms. Conboy, you weren't throwing out my argument.

MS. CONBOY:  No, it's not yours, but I won't tell you whose it is.

MR. WARREN:  I have had to wade up the stream in a number of difficult cases, but I have never had that dramatic a gesture.

MS. CONBOY:  It's just the Board's Practices and Procedures.

MR. WARREN:  At paragraph 24 on page 10 of the reported decision, I quote:
"It goes without saying that in order for charges to be imposed for regulatory purposes, or to otherwise 'be necessarily incidental to a broader regulatory scheme', one must first identify a 'regulatory scheme'."


It then goes on to consider the following.  It says:
"Certain indicia have been present when this Court has found a 'regulatory scheme'.  The factors to consider when identifying a regulatory scheme include the presence of: (1) a complete and detailed code of regulation; (2) a specific regulatory purpose which seeks to affect the behaviour of individuals; (3) actual or properly estimated costs of the regulation; and (4) a relationship between the regulation and the person being regulated, where the person being regulated either causes the need for regulation or benefits from it.  This is only a list of factors to consider.  Not all of these factors must be present to find a regulatory scheme."


And then I underscore the following sentence:
"Nor is this list of factors exhaustive."


Now, it will be our position on the substance of this case, and it is certainly our position today, that it is by no means obvious that the two programs in issue are part of a regulatory scheme.  What I say -- where I say my friend errs is that he misinterprets the entire line of what I will call the Westbank line of cases.  His argument is, as I understand it, that those cases limit the extent of the factual inquiry.

I say what those cases do is they provide an analytical framework.  They pose the questions that need to be asked.  They don't limit the questions.  As the Supreme Court said, the case is not exhaustive, but they do not in any way limit the factual inquiry necessary to answer those questions.

Now, my friend uses the -- what I take it to be in his line of work are the awesome totemic words, no jurisprudential authority for my argument.  Why would there be any jurisprudential authority on the factual inquiry necessary to address the kinds of questions asked in Westbank, because every case is fact-specific?  We need to examine every claim that something is part of regulatory scheme based on the particular facts of the scheme in question.

This is what we are trying to do, get the facts necessary to determine whether or not this can be reasonably characterized as a scheme.

Now, I would ask you to turn up, beginning at page 28 of my friend's factum -- sorry, paragraph 28, I apologize.  And from there forward, my friend cites the categories of information which we have sought, saying -- arguing, as I understand it, that our inquiry is limited by the questions which are posed in Westbank.  For example, beginning at paragraph 29:

"The Board must determine whether a nexus exists between the material in question and the jurisprudential test..."

And the jurisprudential test is:  Is this a regulatory scheme?  I underscore the argument.  The tests in Westbank and the other cases, Connaught and others, do not limit the ambit of the factual inquiry; they simple pose the questions.

So for example, on page 12 of my friend's factum, he says it's not relevant to consider -- this is the second bullet item:

"Program options considered but never implemented, that do not reflect the cost recovery mechanism ultimately enacted by Government..."

Our inquiry is:  Why did the government reject certain programs?  How do they characterize -- how did they decide they were not properly part of a regulatory scheme, whereas these are?  What reasoning is brought to bear to determine that these are part of a regulatory scheme and others are not?

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Warren, let me just interrupt you there for a second.

You said how did they decide that they were -- that certain ones weren't part of a regulatory scheme and others were.  Are you suggesting that the decision to include or not include certain parts is relevant to whether or not the parts that were included are part of a regulatory scheme?

Maybe I am getting into the merits of your argument as a whole, but I am just slightly puzzled by that.

MR. WARREN:  I think you are.  With respect, you are getting into the merits, and that is one of the risks that we have today, is whether or not ultimately somebody says that, you know, that means anything.

At this stage, we want to know what the reasoning is, because frankly these aren't, in our submission, evidently, part of any regulatory scheme.  So if the government suddenly comes up with a couple of programs which don't look like anything that's ever been characterized as part of the regulatory regime in this province before, says these are part of the regulatory regime, we want to know -- and the whole thrust of these questions to Mr. Beale was -- what was the analysis that went into these programs, how did you decide these programs fit within the regulatory scheme and these didn't.

For example, the ones that were to apply to the natural gas sector that were rejected, now, at the end of the day, we might look at that stuff and say:  You know, that's not properly characterized as a regulatory regime.  Or you may decide the opposite, say it is, but at this stage, what we are looking for is information about how it was decided.  What were the other programs considered?

MS. SPOEL:  I will let you get on with your argument, sorry.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I won't take you through all of the points that are made by my friend in this context, but I will take you to paragraph 33 of his factum.

He says, and I quote:

"The framework established by the Supreme Court in Westbank and 620 Connaught involves no comparison between the impugned levy and other program options considered but never implemented."

It wasn't an issue in those cases.  It wasn't part of the factual inquiry, but the questions that are posed in those cases don't preclude that factual inquiry.

He says then:

"Rather, the legal analysis relates solely to the proper characterization of the actual levy imposed and its connection to the regulatory scheme."

That's what you do in the final analysis, perhaps, but it doesn't limit the factual inquiry at the front end.  And that, in my respectful submission, is the basic flaw in my friend's analysis on the relevance issue.

He says somehow these Supreme Court of Canada decisions limit what you can look at, make ab initio a determination about what's relevant.  We say that's simply wrong.

Now, I think it's instructive, Madam Chair and Ms. Conboy, to turn up the motion record.  And in the affidavit that was produced in support of this motion, the questions asked and the answers given are set out.

Beginning at paragraph 3 of the motion record, we asked questions.  I asked Mr. Beale to produce copies of any studies or analysis of the cost recovery implications of section 26.1.  The reason that I asked these questions was, to put it crudely, this sure looked like a cash grab from a handy-dandy mechanism available in the form of rates charge for electricity.  So I wanted to know if there were analyses of the cost recovery implications, how it was done, to see whether or not this was the case.

Now, what was produced appears at Exhibit A to that affidavit, and large portions of it, very substantial portions of it, when you look at it, are simply redacted.  They made a decision:  You are not allowed to see that, on their basis of irrelevance.

Paragraph 5 of the motion record, I asked Mr. Beale to produce reports or analysis that underlay the creation and implementation of Ontario Regulation 66/10.  Again, my factual inquiry was trying to determine whether or not this was determined to be part of some regulatory scheme, or whether or not this was simply, as I say, a handy-dandy way of grabbing a little cash.  I am sorry to be colloquial, but that's in essence what the question was, or what the issue or the concern was of my clients.

So if turn to Exhibit B, what was produced, they did produce something, but there are large portions of it that are simply blacked out.  For example, if you look at page 36 of the motion record under the heading "Apportioning the Charges," completely blacked out.

Why apportion it only to electricity users, when the claim is that it's part of a broader regulatory scheme that benefits the entire province?

That's part of the factual inquiry, which may, at the end of the day, be persuasive for you, this Board, in hearing the motion.

Finally, at paragraphs 7 and 8, he was asked to provide a written proxy for a business case underlying 66/10, and a regulatory impact assessment or proxy in connection with it.  And again, these questions were directed attempting to elicit information about why it was that out of the universe of possibilities, one or two programs were selected with one or -- sorry, with one target audience, not part of the broader regulatory framework according to us.  And the answers we got, which appear at (c) and (d) are, again, very substantially redacted.

Now, I say with respect there is no evidence before you that any of the information which has been redacted, if produced, will cause harm to anybody.  I say my friend can't even make that argument, because he hasn't followed the procedure to establish Crown immunity.

But let's suppose he had the Minister here, as he should have, with an affidavit saying:  This is what the damage is going to be, how can producing this information shake the foundations of the government of Ontario, when a group of people are being taxed to the tune of $53 million?

I say that there is no harm in producing this information, and it is arguably relevant to our case.  It is, I say, not clearly irrelevant, which is the test.

Now, in paragraph 37 of my friend's factum, he, again, uses the -- I'll characterize somewhat facetiously as the awesome totemic words that we don't articulate a legal theory supported by law upon which the redacted material they seek is relevant to the legal question.

Again, the distinction is between the questions that are posed, the analytical framework established by Westbank and the factual inquiry necessary to establish it.

It ain't obvious these programs are part of any regulatory scheme, and we should be allowed to examine materials in order to determine whether or not that claim that they are part of the regulatory scheme is legitimate.

And it's for that reason that we have brought this motion.

Now, the relief that we are seeking in the motion is a production of the unredacted documents, and, if they are produced, to have Mr. Beale re-attend to answer not just the questions that would arise from the material that has been produced, but also the unredacted material.  Those are my submissions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Thompson, I assume you are supporting Mr. Warren's position?

Submissions by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I am, Madam Chair.  Let me try and confine my remarks to supplementing what Mr. Warren has said to you, rather than duplicate the submissions.

In terms of my client's approach to this, we agree with the proposition that what is relevant is framed by the issues in this case, and Mr. Warren has touched on what the issues are.  An issue of interest to my client -- and you should have my factum in front of you.  Hopefully it's available.  It's an eight-page document.

MS. SPOEL:  We just have to turn it up.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you have that, Madam Chair?

MS. SPOEL:  I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  It might be helpful if you -- I will try to cross-reference what I have to say to the submissions in this factum.  But an issue of priority interest to my client here, as well as to others, including Mr. Warren, pertains to whether this electricity-only special purpose charge of some $53.7 million is but one part of a complex, complete and detailed regulatory scheme conceived by planners some years prior to this going into effect.

And I use that language because that's the way Mr. Beale described this scheme in his affidavit, and I have referenced that in paragraph 32 of our factum.  So if you take a look at his factum, what the government -- take a look at his affidavit, excuse me, what the government is saying is this charge is but one part of a complex, complete, detailed regulatory scheme that was conceived, as he put it, as early as 1998.

So we wish to enquire as to whether that scheme does or does not exist.  And in paragraph 34 of our factum, the proposition that we are trying to develop is described there.  We say:
"Production of and questions on the documents will be relevant to a consideration of whether the legislation and regulations pertaining to the electricity-only SPC... are but one component..."

Of what was described by Mr. Beale in his affidavit:
"...or whether they are merely the result of a... self-serving and retroactive re-classification by the government of energy conservation program costs, already funded or financed by taxpayers, for the purpose of transferring the financial burden of these particular program costs from taxpayers... to electricity distributors and their customers."


There are other aspects that and other criteria that have to be established to demonstrate the scheme, but that's a particular area that we were pursuing with Mr. Beale and would like to pursue that in the context of these complete documents.

And that, then, leads to the question of:  What is a scheme? What is a scheme?  And we have attempted to put our view on what a scheme is in paragraph 33 of our factum.  It's a system -- according to the Oxford dictionary, it's "a systematic plan or arrangement for attaining some particular object".  In other words, our view, it's a prospective plan for attaining something.  Retroactive changes to elements of a previously established program in our view do not constitute a scheme.

So those are the aspects of the scheme issue that we wish to explore in the context of the complete documents that have been produced.

That, then, brings me to the point that you raised at the outset, Madam Chair:  What principles should guide the Board in evaluating whether what's been redacted is permissible or not permissible?

On that score, the first point that I would like to emphasize is there is a distinction to be made between documents that are relevant and documents in their entirety that are subject to solicitor-and-client privilege, and then unilateral redactions made to parts of what are acknowledged to be relevant documents.  And that's what we are dealing with here.

We are not dealing with the argument a whole document is irrelevant or a whole document is subject to solicitor-client privilege.  We are dealing with unilateral blacking out of documents that are conceded to be relevant.

And, in that particular case, the onus is clearly on the party doing the redactions to justify that they are permissible, and Mr. Warren has taken you to the McGee case, the insurance case that's in the material.  I won't take you to that, but that's -- the onus is clearly on the Attorney General to justify this.

Another principle and sort of overview that we urge you to take into account is that this is a constitutional case.  We are dealing with challenges to the validity of government legislation, and we are dealing with unilateral redactions made by the government to documents that were instrumental in leading up to what the government did in this particular case.

And, in my submission, courts frown on unilateral actions taken by government in such cases to fail to provide complete disclosure of the relevant documents.  And support for that proposition can be found in the RJR-MacDonald case, which is in my brief of authorities.

I hope you have.  It's at tab 12.  This is the Supreme Court of Canada decision in the tobacco case, and I have referred to it in our factum starting at paragraph 15; really paragraphs 15 through to 18, inclusive.  And I won't read all the segments in the decision, but Chief Justice Lamer addresses this in page 57 and paragraph 101 of the report, the business of government redacting documents in a constitutional case.

And Justice McLachlin addresses it at page 72 in the report at tab 12 of our brief, and I would like to just highlight parts of what Justice McLachlin had to say.

Again, this wasn't -- this was dealing with a Charter issue about dealing with alternatives, but I submit it doesn't matter.  It's a constitutional case, and the onus should be on the government to come clean here so that the tribunal that is assessing the -- evaluating the appropriateness of their action has a complete record.

In this particular case, the government didn't do that and Justice McLachlin had this to say, starting at the third line of paragraph 166:

"The Attorney General of Canada refused to disclose this document and approximately 500 others demanded that the trial by evoking s. 39 of the Canada Evidence Act... thereby circumventing an application by the tobacco companies for disclosure since the courts lack authority to review the documents for which privilege is claimed under s. 39.  References to the study were blanked out of such documents as were produced..."

And she refers to the reasons for the trial judge on that point.

"In the face of this behaviour, one is hard-pressed not to infer that the results of the studies must undercut the government's claim that a less invasive ban would not have produced an equally salutary result."

So there is concern being expressed by the current Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of Canada.

Justice Iacobucci, at page 75, really captures the point that I would like to emphasize; this is in paragraph 186, in the last sentence.  He says:

"These cases are of wide public interest constitutional litigation in which the government should remain non-adversarial and make full disclosure.  Without this requirement, courts will be constrained to decide the constitutionality of legislation without full information.  In any event, the burden of proof at [stage one] lies solely with the government."


But "without this requirement, courts will be constrained to decide the constitutionality of legislation without full information."  I submit that that concept should be a guiding principle that you apply when considering this issue of redactions.

And from there, you then move to the redactions on the grounds of irrelevance, and then the second tranche of redactions are on the grounds of solicitor-and-client privilege.

And on the redactions of the grounds of relevance, I agree with Mr. Warren that the test involves two elements.

First of all, the onus is on the Attorney General to demonstrate that the information redacted is clearly irrelevant and -- this is an important "and" -- demonstrates an interest that needs to be protected.

The Attorney General, I think, concedes that this is the test in paragraphs 44 to 47 of the factum, but he has some other submissions at paragraphs 19 to 21 that seem to be incompatible with that.  In any event, that's the test, is -- in my submission, and the onus is on the party making the redactions to justify them.

As Mr. Warren points out, the government and the AG has waived its public interest immunity category of resistance to providing the information, and so it cannot, in our submission, rely on the government's sensitivity and the cabinet documents and all of that stuff that is put in the factum to justify the second branch of the irrelevance test, demonstration of interest in needs of protection.

Without that, all of the redactions made on the grounds of irrelevance are unjustified.

And just to illustrate, if I might, what is -- what the Attorney General has redacted on the grounds of relevance, there is an -- there is an attachment in the Attorney General's factum.  I think it's tab 1 – schedule 1, excuse me.  And this contains a -- really a concordance with the undertaking responses.  And if you look at that, you will see a reference to the responses, and then the grounds for redaction.

So relevance is referenced on page 1 of this document.  Solicitor-and-client privilege is mentioned in one spot on the second page, and two spots on the third page of this document.

And you need to then cross-reference that to material in Mr. Warren's motion record, starting at tab 2, sub-tab (a).  And if you wouldn't mind turning up, then, tab 2(a) of Mr. Warren's motion record, I just want to illustrate what we say the complete information will be important to in terms of the facets of the case my clients are interested in.

So if you just go to page 14 of the motion record, you go over to page -- at the bottom there is a heading "Rationale" and this document is entitled "Rationale for Reallocation of MEI Program Cost to Ratepayers" so we don't hear -- nothing in this about some multi-part, complex, detailed regulatory scheme, something –- something different.  And then it has "Rationale" and 95 percent of the rationale is blocked out.

And I say the rationale goes to -- complete description of the rationale would go to whether this is or is not a multi-part, complete, complex, detailed scheme, or something other than that.

And the same thing with design.  That's blacked out.  Implementation, that's blacked out.  All of that information goes to scheme or no scheme, and you can go through it page after page.  Costs will go to scheme or no scheme, or whether this is something that was designed to shift what was previously a taxpayer burden to ratepayers.

And so you can go through each of the pages and ask yourself the question:  Would this information being canvassed on a return of Mr. Beale assist the Board in determining the constitutional validity issue that is before it?

And I submit the answer to that question is clearly yes.

That, then, leaves redactions done on the basis of alleged Solicitor-and-client privilege, and the point that we made in our factum, of course, before we got the Attorney General's factum, is nothing had been provided to establish a foundation for that particular claim.

Normally, when a claim is made for Solicitor-and-client privilege, at the time the claim is made a foundation is established for it in some basis.  Whether it's an affidavit, allegation by counsel, there is some basis for it, usually in an affidavit of documents.  There are some particulars provided.  At least the document is identified, and then there is a description as to why it's -- why a privilege, Solicitor-and-client privilege, is being claimed.

So the failure -- what the AG does is do nothing, and then Mr. Warren has to challenge the failure to justify the redactions, and then -- and then we then get justification.  In my submission, that's not an appropriate process for the AG to follow.

But we do have, now, allegations with respect to Solicitor-and-client privilege.  And on that point, just in our factum, if you go to paragraph 23, what we quote there is a statement of principle that's been extracted from the Supreme Court of Canada decision that's cited in paragraph 23, Solosky v. The Queen.  That case is found at 13 of our brief.  If you go to page 837, you will see the quote there from the judgment of Justice Dickson from which the proposition in our factum is extracted.

This comes back to the point I was making earlier about privilege, solicitor-and-client privilege usually being on a document basis rather than on parts of a document.  And Justice Dickson notes that, in this paragraph that's been highlighted, as follows.  He says:

"As Mr. Justice Addy notes, privilege can only be claimed document by document, with each document being required to meet the criteria for the privilege..."


Then it goes on the criteria:
"(i) a communication between solicitor and client; (ii) which entails the seeking or giving of legal advice; and (iii) which is intended to be confidential by the parties. To make the decision as to whether the privilege attaches, the letters must be read by the judge, which requires, at a minimum, that the documents be under the jurisdiction of a court. Finally, the privilege is aimed at improper use or disclosure, and not at merely opening."


This pertained to -- this case pertained to an inmate complaining about the head of the penitentiary opening his mail. Must have been a Legal Aid case, obviously, to get to the Supreme Court of Canada, but in any event the point is that there are criteria that need to be satisfied to engage the privilege, and one of them is communication between a solicitor and his client.

Now, in terms of government or in-house lawyers, the next case, the Telus case, provides some insight as to how those communications are dealt with where there is something in them that stems from a lawyer.

And if you go to that case at page 3 and paragraph 10, Justice Linden - this is the Federal Court of Appeal - had this to say:
"Since in-house and government lawyers are often employed in multiple capacities it is important to bear in mind that only communications in their capacities as lawyers can be privileged. Communications for other purposes, such as the giving of business or policy advice, does not fall within the umbrella of privilege. ...

"Whether a particular communication is covered by privilege in this context has to be assessed on a case by case basis. It will depend 'on the nature of the relationship, the subject matter of the advice and the circumstance in which it is sought and rendered.'"

And so what we have then in this case, in terms of the solicitor-and-client extractions from this material, which was obviously generated for the purposes of policy advice and considerations by the government, we have solicitor-and-client privilege being claimed.  First of all, if you go to, again, the Attorney General's schedule 1, and the second page you will see it's reference to JT1.5B, and I think that document is at Mr. Warren's tab B.

And that's -- so you just -- you see nothing but white page there on page 31, and this is some sort of slide deck update to the Minister.  It's not from a lawyer.  There is no -- at least as far as I can determine, it's not been provided by a lawyer.  There is no request for legal advice that has prefaced this slide deck, as far as we can determine from what the Minister has -- what the AG has provided in the material.

Now, we also have to, I think in fairness, look at paragraph 69 of the AG's factum.  And what's described here is passing on confidential advice from solicitors in constitutional law branch to the Ministry of Energy re constitutionality of proposed methods of funding cost recovery against natural gas.
"Note:  recovery against natural gas was never implemented and is therefore also irrelevant."


So I think what they are saying is this slide deck pertains to natural gas only.  My understanding of this characterization is that somebody is incorporating into the slide deck something from solicitors and passing it on to the Minister.  It is being passed on the Minister, in my submission, for advice, policy advice, and, in my submission, would not be subject to the privilege on the basis of the Telus case that I just mentioned.

The other two areas of redaction on solicitor-and-client privilege grounds are on the next page, 42, in the factum schedule.  And if you then go back to 269, this is the reference to pages in Mr. Warren's motion record, and the suggestion is paragraph -- pages 35 and 36, talking about apportioning the charges, are somehow based on legal advice.  I doubt it, but, in any event, it's passing on something a lawyer may have said for the purposes of costs.  And costs goes to the point of whether the scheme exists or doesn't exist, in our submission.

The other pages that are referenced are pages 49, 50 and 51.  These don't appear to me to be part of any solicitor-and-client communications.  They are contents of something entitled "Ministry of Energy and Infrastructure MB 20 for MEI's Conservation Cost Recovery from Electricity Utilities and the IESO".

So I question whether those -- passing on of information of the type described in paragraph 69 would qualify for the privilege in accordance with the Telus decision, or whether it's merely related to policy advice.

And the same thing, the other two pages that are identified as pages 55 and 57, it's difficult to understand what in those pages would capture legal advice or the passing on of legal advice that's not been provided in the context of policy advice.

So my submission is that the AG has failed to make out solicitor-and-client privilege that he has the onus of demonstrating to your satisfaction.

So all parts of these documents should be produced.  None of the redactions are justified, and only then will the Board and the parties have a complete record upon which to evaluate whether what the government has done in this case is or is not constitutionally valid.

And I close with reiterating that such an important determination in a case of this nature shouldn't be made on the basis of a record that's been unilaterally manicured by the government's lawyers.

Those are my submissions.
Procedural Matters:


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  We will take a break now and come back at 11:10.

Mr. Charney, I am just wondering, in terms of us being able to assess the arguments, whether -- you might think about this over the break, because I am not what -- this is not the sort of case we normally deal with here at the Board, so we are trying to do it in an expeditious manner as possible, but I wondered whether it would be useful -- since eventually I think Ms. Conboy and I are going to end up having to look at these documents -- whether it would be useful to have them in front of us while you make your submissions, so we can have some idea, or whether it would be more useful for you to just make your submissions and then provide them to us later for review.

I don't know the answer to that question, but it is something you might want to think about over the break, and perhaps discuss with Mr. Warren and Mr. Thompson, as well.

MR. CHARNEY:  Okay, yes.  We'll do that.

MS. SPOEL:  That thought just sort of came to me as Mr. Thompson was going through your list.


 MR. CHARNEY:  Yeah.  That was, in fact, going to be one of our first questions to you, and so we will do that if we can.


 MS. SPOEL:  If you can give that some thought over the break, that would be great.


 MR. CHARNEY:  Thank you.


 MS. SPOEL:  Thank you very much.

--- Recess taken at 10:51 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:19 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Charney.
Submissions by Mr. Charney:

MR. CHARNEY:  Thank you.  We have provided Mr. Millar with two copies of the unredacted versions of the documents at issue.  They are partially unredacted, and let me just explain that for a moment.  We have greyed out, so that what is underneath is legible, the parts of the documents that we say are irrelevant and that we have redacted on the basis that they are irrelevant.  
The solicitor-client privileged parts remain blacked out, and there are two reasons for that.  One reason is that it's our position that Mr. Warren has not challenged our claim of solicitor-client privilege.  He had acknowledged that solicitor-client privileged material may be redacted.  He read that to you from the McGee case.  We take the position that Mr. Thompson may not raise that issue as an intervenor.

The second reason why we have left that blacked out is found in Sopinka and Lederman's text at tab 8 of our book of authorities.  And if you turn -- unfortunately, because of the way it's been printed off, the page numbers are all the same.  But if you turn to about five pages in, there is a heading "Confidential Communications Within Special Relationships, Solicitor and Client".  Do you see that?

MS. SPOEL:  Yes.

MR. CHARNEY:  If you go to paragraph 1447, it says:
"In McClure, the court pointed out that the solicitor-client privilege, because of its unique status within the justice system and its being integral to its successful administration, has the status of a class privilege.  In the absence of express legislative language, regulatory boards, agencies and commissions are not to review solicitor-client confidences to determine whether the privilege is properly claimed.  Given the fundamental role of the privilege in the integrity of the justice system, such review is to be conducted only by the courts."

And we would point out of course the Statutory Powers Procedure Act, which indicates that this board may not disclose solicitor-client privileged or privileged information.

And so we say it has not been challenged by Mr. Warren, Mr. Thompson may not challenge it, and, in any event, this tribunal does not have jurisdiction to consider it.

Mr. Virani will be making some other submissions in response to Mr. Thompson's submissions, should the tribunal care to hear. Let me --


MS. SPOEL:  Having -- so, Mr. Charney, your position on that is that we simply have to accept that the parts that you have that are still redacted, if you say in the margin, as you do, that it's solicitor-client privilege, this tribunal has to receive that evidence or review it without question?

MR. CHARNEY:  Well, you can't review it, because we have left it blacked out.

MS. SPOEL:  I realize that, but your position is that we are not authorized; we don't have the jurisdiction or the authority to require you to show it to us so that we can -- not that I question your bona fides, but we cannot independently review whether we agree with your assessment or your client's assessment that it is solicitor-client privileged, and no member of this tribunal can do that?

MR. CHARNEY:  That's correct.

MS. SPOEL:  Because we are not a court.

MR. CHARNEY:  That's an issue that must be dealt with by the court.

MS. SPOEL:  I just want to make sure I understand --


MR. CHARNEY:  You do, yes.  Again, our first point being at paragraph 12 of his factum, Mr. Warren says he is not challenging the claims for solicitor-client privilege.

Let me start, Madam Chair, with one of the very final comments you made before you left for your break, and you made the point that this is not the sort of case you normally deal with.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  May I just correct my friend on one point?  If you turn to page 12 -- paragraph 12 of my factum, that's not what I said.  I said the CCC takes no issue with respect to those redactions made on the basis of privilege provided that this basis is justified.

That's a lot different than saying I don't take any challenge with them.

MS. SPOEL:  I understand that, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.

MR. CHARNEY:  My view is if somebody is challenging a claim of solicitor-client privilege, they should say I am challenging the claim for solicitor-client privilege.  They don't say, We take no issue with it, provided that they are justified.  That's like saying we are not challenging the validity of the legislation, provided that it's valid.

It is a meaningless statement.  If you are challenging something, you say you are challenging it.  You don't say you are not unless...  But I will leave it at that.

In this case, you are being asked to consider a legal issue that falls outside the regular regulatory responsibilities of this Board, and this motion relates to a single constitutional question, and Mr. Warren I think fairly put it to you in his opening submissions:  Does section 26.1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act establish an unconstitutional indirect tax which is ultra vires beyond the power of the provincial legislature, or is it, as Ontario submits, a constitutional regulatory charge which is intra vires within the power of the Ontario legislature?

This is a division of powers question.  It's not a Charter of Rights questions, and we have 150 years of division of powers legal analysis from the courts.

In answering this question, this Board will have to engage in a legal analysis that is usually conducted by courts.  And to get to the correct answer, you will have to conduct your inquiry in the same way that a court would conduct that inquiry.  And we are very fortunate in this case, because there are two significant Supreme Court of Canada cases which outline fairly neatly the legal analysis that has to be undertaken to decide whether something is an indirect tax or a regulatory charge.

And, again, Mr. Warren mentioned those.  They are the Connaught case and the Westbank case, and he read passages to you.  And those cases set out the relevant legal analysis in this kind of division of powers case, and that legal analysis establishes the legal parameters as to what is relevant.

So when Mr. Warren said, Don't worry about the merits, I don't think that's quite right.  I think you do have to be concerned about the merits.  You have to understand the legal parameters of the merits of the issue in order to assess what is relevant to this case, in order to assess what documents are relevant, what line of inquiry is relevant.

And the courts are quite clear you can't -- the other side is not entitled to ask questions or obtain disclosure on information that is not relevant to the legal issues that are raised.  And this motion before you raises two issues.  First of all, can the government redact irrelevant portions of documents that it has disclosed?  And the second is if, yes, if we can redact irrelevant portions of documents that we have disclosed, are the portions that we have redacted irrelevant to the legal issues in this case?

And I will be dealing with the first of those issues, and I will take you through the case law which we say indicates that, in circumstances such as this, the government may redact irrelevant portions of documents that have been disclosed, and Mr. Virani will be dealing with the second issue.  He will be taking you through the documents to explain why the redacted portions are not relevant to the legal issues that are raised in this case.

And just to give you a better guide where we break it out as to what's in our factum, I will be dealing with what, in effect, are paragraphs 41 to 60 of our factum, and Mr. Virani will be dealing with paragraphs 22 to 40 of the factum, and he will also make some submissions on the issue of solicitor-client privilege, which is found at paragraph 61 to 72 of our factum.

Our position on the issues -- and it's clear you already understood this -- is summarized at paragraph 16 to 18 of our factum.

And Madam Chair, as you recognized, we are resisting disclosure of what we say are the irrelevant redacted portions.  We are not resisting the re-attendance of Mr. Beale for further questioning on whatever aspect is relevant.

On the part that I am going to be dealing with, I really have five points that I want to make, and these are the points.

Number one, where both relevant and irrelevant information is contained in the same document, it is appropriate to redact irrelevant information where, because of its nature, there is good reason why that part should be redacted.  And Mr. Warren read that very sentence to you when he was reading the McGee.  So there is no dispute about that point.

The second point that I want to make is:  What do we say is the good reason for the redaction in this case?  And again, I will take you to the McGee case and I will read the same passage this Mr. Warren read to you.

The McGee says that it's a good reason if disclosure would infringe, and this is a quote:

"...public interest deserving of protection."

And in this case, we say the public interest deserving of protection is the general confidentiality of Cabinet decision-making.  Cabinet decisions, Cabinet decision-making is treated as confidential by Cabinet, by the courts and by statute.

The third point that I am going to be making, which is really a continuation of the second, is that the general confidentiality of Cabinet decision-making is a public interest deserving of protection, is recognized by the courts, including the Supreme Court of Canada, and it is recognized by legislation, the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, that also protects Cabinet confidential decision-making.

The fourth point that I want to make is really to make our position clear with respect to how this relates to public interest immunity, and this is found at paragraph 53 of our factum.  And Mr. Warren says, They are not claiming public interest immunity, yet they are relying on the cases that talk about public interest immunity.  How can that be?

Let me make this clear.  The Attorney -– and this is all at paragraph 53 -- the Attorney General is not claiming that the redacted portions are subject to public interest immunity.  If the redacted portions were relevant, the Crown would disclose them, just as it has already disclosed the relevant portions of those documents.  The Attorney General's position is that it is unnecessary to assert privilege, other than solicitor-client privilege -- and we will leave that to later -- but it's unnecessary to assert privilege because the redacted portions of the documents are not relevant to the legal inquiry before the Board.  And because they are not relevant, they may be redacted for the public interest reason that I stated in my previous point.

The Supreme Court of Canada is clear: you have to assess relevance before you assess privilege.  Privilege does not arise as an issue if the matter is irrelevant.  Relevance comes before privilege.  And so we are saying we are redacting this because it's irrelevant.  If it was relevant, just as the other stuff we have disclosed, we would disclose it.  We are not here to block this Tribunal, this Board from getting the information that it needs to make the decision, but we are protecting the principle of Cabinet confidentiality, and I will get into that in more detail.

The fifth point that I want to make is you certainly have the authority to review the unredacted documents, and we have provided them to you, in reaching your decision on relevance, and I would make two points within that.

First of all, because they are Cabinet documents, the courts are clear, you must review them and decide that they are relevant before you can disclose them to the other side.  However, you will see in the material that we have provided that there are a number of cases where the courts say:  We don't even have to look at the documents.  And you don't have to look at -- review the documents if you decide that you are not going to disclose them to the other side.

And how could that be?  And let me just explain to you.

If the applicants don't meet their onus of showing that the documents are relevant to a legal issue in the case, then there would be no need to disclose them.  And the example that I would give is really if you turn to paragraph 29 of Mr. Warren's factum, and I am stealing a bit of Mr. Virani's thunder here, but I think it's important that you understand this at the outset.

MR. VIRANI:  I am used to it, Madam Chair.

MR. CHARNEY:  He says:

"The questions regarding the nature of the special purpose charge are broad and must clearly encompass the examination of factors and programs considered and rejected by the government."

Now, Mr. Virani is going to take you through the cases and show you that the programs that the government rejected are entirely irrelevant to the legal analysis that you have to undertake in order to decide a division of powers question.

There are no authority -- there is no authority for the proposition that what the government decides not to do is somehow relevant to whether what it did do is within its legislative authority.  It doesn't even make any logical sense that that would be the case.

He has no authority for that proposition because there is no authority for that proposition.  And I say that you can say this is key to his reason for wanting to review the documents, and if you agree that it is, in fact, irrelevant to the division of powers argument, then without even looking at the documents you can simply dismiss his motion.

I think it is even more revealing if you look at paragraph 15 of Mr. Thompson's factum for the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, and at paragraph 15, he says:
"Claims of confidentiality by the government have the effect of withholding from the factual record evidence relating to available governmental options and thus compromise the ability of courts to properly evaluate the constitutionality of government actions."

So he talks about the availability of government options, and he cites as authority the RJR-MacDonald case, and Mr. Virani will take you to this.  RJR-MacDonald case is looking at that in the context of section 1 of the Charter of Rights, where the issue is are there alternative means by which the government could achieve the same objective with less impact on the constitutional right.

It's not an issue in a division of powers case.  So the very fact that the CME relies on a Charter case as an explanation as to why they need to see these documents, I say should lead you to the conclusion that you should reject their motion, because they are wanting to see it for a reason which is completely irrelevant to the parameters of the legal argument that you have to assess.

The government might have a million alternative options, and they may all fall within provincial jurisdiction.  The fact that we didn't do them doesn't tell you whether the one that we choose falls within provincial jurisdiction.  It's relevant to the Charter; it's irrelevant to division of powers cases.

Let me, then, take you back to my first point, which is where documents contain both relevant and irrelevant information, the irrelevant information may be redacted.  And I am going to be relying on the very same cases that Mr. Warren relied on, so there is no dispute there.

If you look at our factum at paragraphs 41 to 47, we have listed a number of cases, a number of authorities, where both courts and administrative tribunals have confirmed that information that is not relevant to a proceeding may not be disclosed, and that where both relevant and irrelevant information are contained within the same document, it may be appropriate to redact irrelevant information from the document.

And I am not going to take you through all the cases that are cited at paragraphs 42 and 43 of our factum; they are all side-barred.  You can look at them at your leisure.

But those are all examples where both courts and tribunals have done just that; they have gone through documents and said clearly this portion here is irrelevant and there is a good reason to take it out, and so we are going to redact it.

So there is lots of example where the kind of redaction that we have done has been permitted.  I just want to respond to a point that Mr. Thompson keeps making about unilateral redactions.  Of course they are unilateral.  All redactions are unilateral.  All claims for solicitor-client privilege are unilateral.  Nobody who claims solicitor-client privilege asks permission of the other side.  It's always unilateral.  It's a meaningless comment.

Let me go to the other two cases I want to refer you to, and they are in volume 2 of our book of authorities.  And the first is at tab 33, the North American Trust case.

And this is important, because this is a decision of Justice Lowry in British Columbia, and Justice Strathy in the McGee case expressly adopts the reasoning of Justice Lowry in this decision.  So I think it's important to look at both.

And if you look starting at paragraph 5 of the decision -- this is the North American Trust case, and I will just read the first sentence.  He says:
"Despite the wording of the rules, this court has, in some circumstances, been disposed to relieve a litigant from disclosing parts of producible documents which are clearly not relevant to the pleaded issues."


He refers to English practice at paragraph 6, and then in paragraph 7 he says:
"There are decisions of the courts of Ontario and Alberta where litigants have not been required to disclose some parts of documents that are clearly irrelevant..."

At the last sentence, he refers to Lazin, an Alberta case:
"...it was held that the term 'documents relating to the matters in question' found in the rules governing discovery in Alberta meant only the relevant portions of what might physically be called a document."


Of course that makes sense, because a document might be quite large.  It might be several pages.  And, not surprisingly, documents may contain information which is directly relevant to the case at issue and information which is completely irrelevant to the case at issue, and that's particularly true of Cabinet document, which is may assess a number of various issues when Cabinet is making a decision.  So not a surprise that documents would do that.

If you go to paragraph 11, Justice Lowry says:
"In the cases to which I have been referred, litigants have been relieved from disclosing the whole of a document related to a matter in question where, but only where, the part withheld has been clearly not relevant to the issues and, because of its nature, there has been good reason why that part should not be disclosed."


And then he refers with reference to:
"...the decisions of this court specifically, good reason is apparent in the private nature of the affairs of a company recorded in the minutes of its directors' meetings, or the personal sensitivity of a person's medical records, diary notations, or familial communications, and much the same can be said where expurgated disclosure of a document has been upheld in the cases cited from other jurisdictions.

So Justice Lowry gives four examples of situations where it would be appropriate to redact otherwise relevant documents and their private nature of the affairs of a company recorded in the minutes of its directors' meetings, personal sensitive matters relating to medical records, diary notations and familial communications.  And I want to make two points about those four examples that he gives.

The first is none of those examples are privileged.  If the information contained in the affairs of the company, medical records, diary notations was relevant, it would have to be disclosed.  These are not examples of privileged information, because obviously you can redact privileged information from a document that's otherwise relevant.

We are here talking about redacting information that is private or confidential, but is not otherwise privileged, and those four examples are perfect examples of that.

The second point I want to make is, if the private nature of the affairs of a company warrants redaction, surely - and I will take you to the cases that will say this - the private nature of affairs of state merit the same confidential treatment.

Let me then take you to the authority that Mr. Warren relied on.  Again, I don't think -- I agree with him.  I don't think we are disputing the principles here.  It's really the application of the principles.

And paragraph 9, Justice Strathy says:
"The whole of a relevant document must be produced except to the extent it contains information that would cause significant harm to the producing party or would infringe public interests deserving of protection."

Let me ask -- if you have a highlighter, let me ask you to highlight those words "or would infringe public interest deserving of protection", because that's where we say we fall under with Cabinet documents.

And you will see he respectfully adopts what Justice Lowry said in the case I just read to you, that passage.  And then if you go to paragraphs 13 and 14, again, Mr. Warren read these to you.  He gives examples, and he says these are just examples of the kind of items that may be redacted from otherwise relevant documents.  And, again, none of them are privileged information, and he says these are just examples.

And that brings me, then, to my second point that I wanted to make, which is:  What is the public interest deserving of protection in this case?  And those are Justice Strathy's words.  And we say the public interest deserving of protection is the general confidentiality of Cabinet decision-making.  Again, Cabinet decision-making is treated as confidential by Cabinet, by courts, by statute.

And let me start by asking you to go to tab 37.  This is the Carey case.  Mr. Warren is very critical of me for relying on it, notwithstanding that we are not claiming public interest immunity, but I will explain to you why it's important.

And let me start by telling you in advance what I say the three points that Carey makes are.  It makes three points.  So the first point is that Cabinet legitimately conducts Cabinet level and ministerial decision-making in confidence, and that confidential government decision-making at that level is within the public interest.

The second point is that if a Cabinet document is relevant to litigation -- now we are into relevance.  If a Cabinet document is relevant to an issue in the litigation and only to the extent that it is relevant - and I will take you to the passages that say that - the document may have to be disclosed even though it was confidential.

And the third point that Carey makes is, if it is in the public interest, even relevant information may be kept confidential if there would be significant harm, and that's when you claim public interest immunity and that's when you need an affidavit from the secretary of Cabinet or a Deputy Minister to explain what the particular harm of disclosure would be with regard to relevant information.

But you only get to that point if it's relevant.  And I am relying on Carey really primarily for the first point, that the court recognizes the public interest in confidential, high-level government decision-making, all of it.

And let me take you to the passages which I say support why -- the good reason that they talk about in the McGee and the North American Trust case.  Let me start by asking you to go to paragraph 79 of the decision.  And it says:
"The foregoing authorities, and particularly, the Smallwood case, are in my view, determinative of many of the issues in this case. That case determines that Cabinet documents like other evidence must be disclosed unless such disclosure would interfere with the public interest.  The fact that such documents concern the decision-making process at the highest level of government cannot, however, be ignored.  Courts must proceed with caution in having them produced..."

And it's really the last two sentences I obviously want to emphasize.
"Courts have to proceed with caution in having them produced because of the important public interest in permitting Cabinet decisions to be made in confidence."

And when the court is saying you have to proceed with caution, I say it's not all or nothing.  Mr. Warren's approach would be it's all or nothing; either you claim public interest immunity and keep the entire document confidential, or you release the entire document.  I say that's not proceeding with caution.  Proceeding with caution is allowing the government to redact documents with surgical precision, where we can disclose the parts that are relevant and redact the parts that are irrelevant to the legal inquiry that the tribunal has to undertake.

And I will take you to the passages that I say make that clear.

So if you go to paragraph 80 of the decision, the court says:

"To these considerations, and they are not all, one must of course add the importance of producing the documents in the interests of the administration of justice.  On the latter question such issues as the importance of the case and the need or desirability of producing the document to ensure that it can be adequately and fairly presented are factors to be placed in the balance.  In doing this, it is well to remember that only the particular facts relating to the case are revealed."

And again, if you have a pen or a highlighter, I'd ask you to highlight that:

"... only the particular facts relating to the case are revealed.  This is not a serious departure from the general regime of secrecy that surrounds a high-level government decision."

And that's another thing I would like you to highlight:

"... the general regime of secrecy that surrounds a high-level government decisions."

So the two points from here: only the particular facts relating to the case are revealed, that's a direction from the Supreme Court of Canada that governments should be permitted to redact irrelevant portions of those Cabinet documents.  There is a recognition of the general regime of secrecy; it recognizes that Cabinet-level decision-making is generally confidential.  Disclosure is the exception, but only if it is relevant.

And let me ask you to go to the last sentence in paragraph 82:

"Policy and implementation may well be intertwined, but a court is empowered to reveal only so much of the relevant documents as it feels is necessary or expedient to do following an inspection."

Another direction from the Supreme Court of Canada that even relevant documents should be redacted, because the disclosure is an exception from the general principle of secrecy.

Only so much of the relevant documents as it is necessary, so the court is assuming the document is relevant, but only so much as necessary is revealed.

And then finally, if you go to paragraph 86 of the decision, the court says:

"I would therefore order disclosure of the documents for the Court's inspection.  This will permit the Court to make certain that no disclosure is made that unnecessarily interferes with confidential government communications."

Let me stop there.

Disclosure of irrelevant material unnecessarily interferes with confidential government communication.  And that clearly puts us within the exception that Justice Strathy was talking about in the McGee case.

The next point:

"Given the deference owing to the executive branch of government, Cabinet documents ought not to be disclosed without a preliminary judicial inspection to balance the competing interests of government confidentiality and the proper administration of justice."

So you have competing interests, so the Supreme Court of Canada is recognizing that government confidentiality is an important interest that has to be balanced.  That puts it within the good-reason exceptions that Justice Strathy talked about in the McGee case.

My point is if a document or a portion of the document is irrelevant to the litigation that you have to look at, government confidentiality wins hands-down over the administration of justice, because they are not relevant to the legal issues, so administration of justice doesn't help us at all.

So in weighing the competing factors, government confidentiality is always a factor.  It's the general regime that the court recognizes is important, and it wins whenever the document or a portion of the document is irrelevant.

Let me then take you to tab 38, another Supreme Court of Canada case, also dealing with Cabinet confidentiality.  And this deals with section 39 of the Canada Evidence Act, and this is interesting, actually, because section 39 is the provision that Mr. Thompson was referring you to when he took you to the RJR-MacDonald case.  And that was the case where the government of Canada said we are not going to give you 500 documents, because section 39 of the Canada Evidence Act says we don't have to.  They have a certain immunity there.

And what's important is -- and I won't take you back to it, but you recall Mr. Thompson read to you a quote from Chief Justice McLachlin -- I don't remember if she was Chief Justice then, but read to you from Justice McLachlin, where she said under section 39 the court has no ability to review the documents to see whether or not they would be relevant.  And that's correct; section 39 of the Canada Evidence Act is a complete immunity for the federal government when they claim it.

But that's an important distinction between -- apart from the RJR-MacDonald case is irrelevant because it's about section 1 of the Charter, the fact is in RJR-MacDonald, the court had no ability to review the documents to figure out whether they were -- would have been relevant.  You, of course, have that ability, and we have given you the unredacted provisions.

So paragraph 18 of this decision, again, sets out the importance of Cabinet confidentiality to our system of government, and it says:

"The British democratic tradition which informs the Canadian tradition has long affirmed the confidentiality of what is said in the Cabinet room and documents and papers prepared for Cabinet discussion.  The reasons are obvious.  Those charged with the heavy responsibility of making government decisions must be free to discuss all aspects of the problems that come before them and to express all manner of views without fear that what they read, say or act will be later subject to public scrutiny."

And there is more of a discussion and I will leave you to read that, but I just want to go to the next page after the quote on page 10, where the court continues:

"The process of democratic governance works best when Cabinet members charged with government policy and decision-making are free to express themselves around the Cabinet table unreservedly.  In addition to ensuring candour in Cabinet decision, this court in Kerry recognized another important reason for protecting Cabinet documents, namely to avoid creating or fanning ill-informed or captious public or political criticism.  Thus Ministers undertake the oath as Privy Councillors to maintain the secrecy of Cabinet deliberations, and the House of Commons and the courts respect the confidentiality of Cabinet decision-making."

So again, if the document is relevant, then it may well have to be disclosed.  But two points I want to make.

First of all, this language is much stronger than the four examples that Justice Lowry gave of the kinds of examples where it would be okay to redact irrelevant portions of relevant documents, such as familial discussions, portions of personal diaries, medical records.  This is a serious, important public interest.

And the Supreme Court of Canada recognizes -- and this is my second point -- that Cabinet confidentiality is a public interest deserving of protection.  And you remember that's what Justice Strathy said; the good reason for redacting irrelevant portions is that there is a public interest deserving of protection.  Clearly, according to the Supreme Court of Canada, this is one.

At paragraph 54 of our factum, we have noted that the important public interest in preserving confidentiality of advice to Cabinet and to Cabinet Ministers is further recognized by statute, and that's in the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, which prevents the disclosure or exempts the disclosure of policy advice from public servants to Cabinet Ministers.

And those provisions are actually found in our factum.  If you go to tab 4 of our factum, we have set out sections 12 and 13 of the Freedom of Information and Privacy Act, and you will see there is exemption for advice to Cabinet and advice to Cabinet ministers.

I think that's an important point, because the Freedom of Information and Privacy Act is the legislature's assessment of what information should be public, and there is a recognition here of the same point that the Supreme Court of Canada has made of the public interest in preserving confidential Cabinet discussions.  And, again, that's why we say we fit into the exception that Justice Lowry and Justice Strathy referred to in the Metropolitan and the McGee case.

At tab 39 of the decision there -- of our book of authorities, we have a decision of the Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario, and the portion is side-barred.  I won't read it to you, but if you go to page 12, the Information and Privacy Commissioner explains the public importance of section -- I think he is dealing with section 13 of the act, and that's the same principle as section 12 of the act.

Again, that's a public interest that the Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario recognizes deserves protection.

And if you go to tab 40, there is an excerpt from the report of the Commission on Freedom of Information and Individual Privacy from 1980, which I think gave rise to the Freedom of Information and Privacy Act as we know it now.  And at -- there is a side-barred part at page 85, and I won't read it to you, but, again, it talks about the importance of the public interest in preserving confidential advice to Cabinet ministers and to Cabinet.

So we say quite clearly we fit within the exception as set out by Justice Lowry and Justice McGee (sic) for exempting irrelevant portions.

The fourth point that I wanted to make - and I think I have made it, but let me just recap it, and it may be clearer now that I have actually gone through the cases - is that the Attorney General is not claiming public interest immunity.  We don't have to.  These portions were redacted because they are irrelevant, and there is good reason to redact irrelevant portions.  There is a public interest that needs to be protected.

If they are redacted because they are irrelevant, then you never have to get to privilege.  And that's clear from the Supreme Court of Canada, and I would ask you to turn to tab 51 of the book of authorities, a very recent case of the Supreme Court of Canada, the Globe and Mail case, where the issue was whether journalists had a privilege not to disclose their sources.

And we are not concerned about the particular privilege that was at issue there, but if you turn to paragraph 56 of the decision, you will see a side-barred portion at paragraph 56.  And I would ask you to just skip down a few lines to the sixth line, where it says:
"It therefore goes almost without saying that if the party seeking disclosure of the identity of the source cannot establish that this fact is relevant, then there will be no need to go on to consider whether the privilege exists.  The threshold test of relevance plays, as it does in many other contexts, an important gate keeping role in the prevention of fishing expeditions."


So the court is clear:  Relevance comes before privilege.  We are saying we are redacting it on the basis that it is irrelevant.  If it was relevant, we would have disclosed it, as we did the rest of the document.

And so that's the only issue, and that's why we are entitled to rely on the public interests that Carey refers to and that the Babcock case refers to, where they talk about the general regime of confidentiality of high-level government decision-making as the reason for redacting the irrelevant portions without having to get to the issue of privilege.

And that's why -- Mr. Warren says there is no affidavit.  You only need an affidavit if we are claiming the privilege.  We are saying it's irrelevant, and whether it's relevant is an assessment by this Board of the parameters of the legal issue on the division of powers question:  Is this an indirect tax or a regulatory charge?  And those legal issues tell you what factual inquiry is relevant.

And let me then get to my final point.  Again, I think I have made this, but it's at paragraphs 57 and 58 of our factum.  At paragraph 57 of our factum, we have listed a number of cases where courts have refused to order disclosure of Cabinet documents even though the court did not review the documents.

And we say you can do that in this case, because the applicants have not met their onus of showing that the legal analysis that they say this -- these facts relate to is actually relevant to the legal analysis that you have to undertake to decide the constitutional issue.

We say -- they say, We are really interested to know what all the alternatives were available to the government that it didn't pursue; and we say, Look at the law.  That is not relevant to a division of powers analysis, and Mr. Virani is going to take you through that in more detail.

And if you agree with us on that, they haven't met the onus of explaining why they need to see these documents.  And as we indicate in paragraph 58, the Supreme Court is clear, and I have read you the passage - it's paragraph 86 of the Kerry case - you may not order disclosure without reviewing the documents to ensure that the redacted portions are relevant to the legal analysis that you have to undertake.

And I will turn it over to Mr. Virani if there are no further questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. CHARNEY:  Thank you.
Submissions by Mr. Virani:

MR. VIRANI:  Thank you, Madam Chair and Ms. Conboy.  As Mr. Charney has indicated, I will be addressing certain paragraphs within our factum, including paragraphs 21 to 40 and the provisions that deal with solicitor-client privilege and the re-attendance of Mr. Beale.

I will be making comments that address three principal areas.  The first is whether the redacted material is in fact irrelevant to this proceeding.  That will be the bulk of my submission.  The second relates to the Attorney General's assertion of solicitor-client privilege, and the third area relates to the Crown's position on the re-attendance of Mr. Beale for further cross-examination, keeping in mind your comment, Madam Chair, that extensive submissions on that point may not be required.

Turning to our -- to my first submission, Madam Chair, the Attorney General submits that the redacted material is in fact irrelevant to the present constitutional challenge.  Relevance is determined by the issues in a proceeding.  In a civil proceeding, that's framed by the pleadings.

The pleadings in this context are the moving parties' notice of constitutional question and amended notice of motion on the merits of this case.  Within those two documents -- and you have the cites within our factum at paragraph 22, and I don't think this is a matter of contention among the parties.  We reference there, Madam Chair, the notice of constitutional question at paragraphs 1 to 11, and the amended notice of motion at paragraphs 13 to 14.

The issue here - and this was clearly stated by Mr. Warren in his submissions - is whether the levy that has been assessed pursuant to section 26.1 of the OEB and Ontario Regulation 66/10 thereto is an indirect tax and, therefore, ultra vires the province.  It is a division of powers question, as Mr. Charney has indicated.

The moving parties' motion on the merits seeks relief in relation to the assessments that have been ordered pursuant to those provisions.

Significantly -- and I will return to this -- no relief is sought by the moving parties in relation to any other regulation, any other order in council, any other provision of the OEBA, or any other act.

In response to the challenges framed by the moving parties, the Attorney General has adduced evidence regarding two programs, and those programs were referenced by Mr. Warren.  The electricity-related costs for which have been funded through assessments authorized by the Board; those are the HESP program and the OSTHI program.  HESP stands for the Home Energy Savings Plan, and OSTHI stands for the Ontario Solar Thermal Heating Initiative.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, just to interrupt, when you say assessments authorized by the Board, I think the Board was required by the regulation to impose the assessments.

So when you say -- I just want to make sure when you say authorized by the Board, there wasn't any discretion on the part of the Board as to whether these assessments would be made, I believe.

MR. VIRANI:  That's correct, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  Just making sure we understand that.

MR. VIRANI:  The HESP and the OSTHI programs are relevant in these proceedings because they inform the total amount of recovery that took place.  That amount is actually entrenched in the regulation.  Mr. Warren referred to it as 53-odd million.  He's in the right ballpark; it's $53,695,310, to be precise.  That's in section 4 of the reg, and that's important and I will get to that later.

Other -- but significantly, again, Madam Chair, other renewable energy programs not funded by the assessments are irrelevant to this proceeding, and I will return to that.

The relief that the moving parties seek is contingent on a determination that the levy established by section 26.1 and under Ontario Regulation 66/10 is an indirect tax ultra vires the province.

And the parties agree that the constitutional characterization of the levy is governed by the framework established by the Supreme Court in Westbank, and in the case that followed, 620 Connaught.  There is some dispute as to the parameters that are entrenched in those cases, and I will reference that in due course, but those cases indicate that the government must demonstrate, pursuant to the analysis laid out therein, that the levy is connected to a valid regulatory scheme and is thus within provincial jurisdiction under the division of powers.

The test that's set out by the Supreme Court is two steps.

The first step is the identification of the existence of a relevant regulatory scheme.  And that involves looking for the presence of some or all of the following indicia.  So those indicia -- and I'm -- just for the -- for your benefit, Madam Chair, I am at paragraph 26 of our factum.

The Supreme Court has indicated that in order to identify the existence of a relevant regulatory scheme, you would look to four different factors: a complete, complex and detailed code of regulation, a specific regulatory purpose which seeks to affect the behaviour of individuals, the existence of actual or properly estimated costs of the regulation - here, pausing parenthetically, the $53,695,310 - and fourthly, a relationship between the regulation and the person being regulated, where the person being regulated either benefits from or causes the need for the regulation.

Again, Madam Chair and Ms. Conboy, I would reiterate the comments of Mr. Charney, that the legal tests, we are not here to argue the merits of the moving parties' constitutional challenge.  However, it is critical to understand the legal test in cases such as this, dealing with a dispute as to whether something is a regulatory charge as opposed to an indirect tax, in order to frame the analysis on whether the material redacted is, in fact, relevant.

Relevance is framed by legal analyses.  Mr. Warren in his submission put it to you that because the list of factors that I just read to you are not exhaustive -- to quote the words of the Supreme Court –- that, really, virtually whatever the moving party wishes to obtain could be relevant to determining the existence of a regulatory scheme.

That is incorrect for several reasons.

First of all, the analysis in these types of taxation questions is framed by the test in Westbank and Connaught.  Those factors have been applied in those two cases, and in subsequent cases looking at the exact same issue.  Although they, on their face, are not meant to be an exhaustive list of terms, there are no cases which my friends can point you to in which that list of factors has been expanded.

And certainly, if you take the extrapolation of my friend's argument, there would be virtually no parameters whatsoever that this court could place on determining what is relevant for the purposes of disclosure.

If the list of factors is indeed infinite, as my friend would have you believe, the possibility of establishing conditions or parameters on disclosure would be rendered null.  Effectively, this court would not be able to reconcile the claim as pleaded with the legal test.

The second part of the test not found in the moving parties' written submission is to find a relationship between a test -- between the charge and the scheme itself.  The court has said that this relationship will exist when the revenues are tied to the costs of the regulatory scheme, or where the charges themselves have a regulatory purpose such as the regulation of certain behaviour.

In this case, Madam Chair, where the charge is intended to defray regulatory costs, the fee revenues must be tied to the costs of the regulatory scheme.

The second part of the test is captured in our factum at paragraph 28.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Virani, I am just not sure I quite understand your last submission.

Are you –- and maybe I was back on the previous point, thinking about Westbank and Connaught.

MR. VIRANI:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  The relationship between the charge and the scheme, I think you just said - and correct me if I am wrong - that the aapplicants here have not demonstrated a relationship between the charge and the scheme, but is that what you said, or -- because I would have thought that the onus was on the Attorney General to establish that there is a relationship between the charge and the scheme in order to show that it's a valid regulatory charge, and not the other way around.

I think I am just missing something from your argument there.

MR. VIRANI:  Okay.  I will back up and --


MS. SPOEL:  Perhaps you can run me through that one again.

MR. VIRANI:  Okay.  I will back up and take it in steps.

So Madam Chair, the onus on establishing whether a -- what looks to be a tax pursuant to the earlier case of --


MS. SPOEL:  Call it a levy, perhaps, to keep neutral language.

MR. VIRANI:  Right.  Is once you get -- once you meet certain criteria, such as it is enforceable by law, has it been enacted by a public body, et cetera, then there is a fifth sort of consideration, and that is whether the levy is connected to a regulatory scheme.

On that issue, the onus is indeed on this side of the ledger.  It's for the government to establish that there is a connection to regulatory scheme.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.

MR. VIRANI:  The point I was simply trying to make is that in Mr. Warren's submission, he indicated that the four factors that I read to you are not exhaustive, and I think in saying that, what he was trying to argue -- and he will correct me if I am misstating it -- is that because it's a non-exhaustive list, we shouldn't be using those four factors to frame your decision on this interlocutory motion as to what is relevant.

And on that point, we have a fundamental disagreement.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Thank you.  That helps.

MR. VIRANI:  Okay.  And the point I was simply attempting to make, Madam Chair, is that on that logic, if the list is not exhaustive, then disclosure could potentially be infinite, and there are no parameters that would be applied.

There is no case law to support his argument, Madam Chair, and clearly, in cases dealing with indirect taxation - and you have got two of three of them in the book of materials before you - the parameters that have been listed in Westbank have been applied uniformly, and only those parameters.

Madam Chair, that takes us to a listing of sort of the sub-categories of information that we feel are irrelevant, and that we have redacted.

In our position, the Board must determine whether a nexus exists between the material that is being sought by the CCC and the jurisprudential test.  The following categories of information will not assist the Board in determining whether the impugned levy satisfies the Supreme Court's criteria and are therefore not relevant to this proceeding.

So what do we say is irrelevant, Madam Chair?  The first broad category -- and I am at page 12 of our factum.  The first broad category of what is irrelevant is information regarding other legislation that does not comprise part of the constitutional challenge commenced by the moving parties.

In particular, Ontario Regulation 275/04, which addresses the manner of bill presentation to ratepayers and an Order in Council that was enacted to bring into force certain provisions of the Green Energy and Green Economy Act, are not relevant.

The second broad category of irrelevant material, in our submission, are program options that were considered but never implemented, and which do not reflect the cost recovery mechanism ultimately enacted by the government now before this Board.

And I will pause there parenthetically to note - and Mr. Charney has alluded to this and I will get to it later in my submission - that these types of speculative program options that were never actually implemented, but were considered, might be relevant were we in a Charter of Rights context, but they certainly are not relevant in a division of powers context.

In particular, the following program options are not relevant:  Cost recovery contemplated for programs other than HESP or OSTHI, such as a program that was called PowerHouse;  equally irrelevant are hypothetical cost recoveries against natural gas which never occurred, or the hypothetical option of avoiding cost recovery altogether, whether didn't occur.

And I would put it to you simply that if there was no cost recovery, we wouldn't be in this litigation.  Clearly that type of material is irrelevant.

Funding options other than the volumetric methodology ultimately used for recovering costs against electricity utilities and ratepayers are not relevant, because they simply were not implemented, and speculative cost recovery that never occurred for program expenses outside of the regulation is irrelevant.  It is outside of the regulation it has not been challenged.

The third broad category, Madam Chair --


MS. SPOEL:  I have a question about the last one.  When you say speculative cost recovery for program expenses outside of regulation, what you mean is other ways they could have recovered, other methods for recovering costs, whatever those might be?

MR. VIRANI:  Yes, exactly.

MS. SPOEL:  I just wanted to make sure I understood what that referred to.

MR. VIRANI:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. VIRANI:  The third broad category are considerations that arise in relation to the levy in the course of lawmaking.  In lawmaking, government routinely considers economic, social, political and partisan considerations.  That is what governments do, and I will take you to the case that explains that.

Those considerations have no bearing whatsoever upon the interpretation and application of the legal test regarding whether this levy constitutes an ultra vires tax.  In particular, the following considerations are irrelevant:  stakeholder views and preferences - Madam Chair, parenthetically, the popularity of this program does not determine its constitutionality - communications management and planning; discussions about disclosure; discussions about the timing and manner of collection; cash flow considerations for parties that were affected; what takes place in other jurisdictions; and regulatory design considerations, including the timing of the regulation.

All of those types of material are irrelevant and do not inform this Board's analysis.

Madam Chair, if I could just ask your input in respect of when the Board may be seeking to break for the lunch period.

MS. SPOEL:  We don't have a fixed schedule, but I would think we are probably coming up to time to have a break.

MR. VIRANI:  I am just about to start a new --


MS. SPOEL:  When you get to a convenient spot that works in your submissions, that would be fine.

MR. VIRANI:  Okay, I will perhaps continue for a few more minutes.

MS. SPOEL:  How much longer are you likely to be?  That's an inquiry.  There is no -- a neutral inquiry.  There is no correct answer.

MR. VIRANI:  I may need as much as an hour to complete my submissions.

MS. SPOEL:  I would suggest we stop fairly soon at a convenient breaking point for you, and then we will take our lunch break.

MR. VIRANI:  Thank you.  So in that first broad scale category of information - and I am at paragraph 30 of our factum, Madam Chair and Ms. Conboy - the primary point of the Attorney General is that only the impugned legislation is relevant.  Information that doesn't relate to section 26.1 of the act or to 66/10, the regulation thereto, or the HESP and OSTHI programs funded by the impugned levy is irrelevant and not producible.

In this category of information, we have two different items.  The first is Ontario Reg 275/04, which I alluded to.  The manner of bill presentation has not been challenged by the moving parties.  Neither the content of that regulation nor any policy discussion related to it has any bearing on the constitutional characterization of the impugned levy.

In fact, Madam Chair, I would put it that my friend does not assert, nor could they assert as a matter of law, that the way in which bills are presented to consumers informs the legal determination as to whether this levy may be deemed a tax as opposed to a regulatory charge.  Full and transparent disclosure does not convert an ultra vires tax to a permissible charge; and, vice versa, concealing a levy does not thereby make the charge a tax.  This information is completely irrelevant.

What I have provided you with are in the factum, Madam Chair and Ms. Conboy.  At page 13 are instances in three different documents in which that material has been redacted.  By way of -- what I propose to do, if it's permissive for you, is give you illustrative examples as opposed to taking you seriatim through every single instance of the redaction.

MS. SPOEL:  I think that's probably a good idea, and I think it's only fair to point out that when Mr. Warren prepared his factum, he had the benefit of the redacted documents.  He didn't have the benefit of your factum explaining why certain parts had been redacted.  And certainly having looked at the redacted ones - I haven't looked yet in any detail at the unredacted versions you provided us - it's not obvious at all.

I mean, let's take bill presentment as an obvious example.  It is not obvious at all.  Since we can't what is said about bill presentment, I think it's fair enough for Mr. Warren to say, Well, is there something there?  And I think it's fair enough for you to say there is nothing about the bill -- how it's put on the bill that makes it a fair -- a tax or a levy.

But he couldn't actually know that, so I would try to avoid suggesting that he hasn't argued a point on material that he in fact hasn't seen.  You can explain to us -- I think the best thing is go through, as you said, not seriatim, but examples of why it is you say this material is not relevant without perhaps suggesting that there is some fault on the part of the moving party here, since they don't have your benefit of actually having seen it.

MR. VIRANI:  I don't believe I did assert that type of fault, but I will be careful to keep that in mind, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. VIRANI:  Also just keep in mind the caveat that in the cases that Mr. Charney directed you towards, there are instances in which disclosures by government of Cabinet material has been accepted by an adjudicator where both the requesting party and the adjudicator themselves have not reviewed the document.

MS. SPOEL:  No, I understand that.  I understand your position.  I am just -- let's stick to what it is about it that causes it, in your view, to be irrelevant.

MR. VIRANI:  I understand.  So in the materials -- so in the document JT 1.5B, Exhibit 1, we have at page -- it's page 40, 41 and 42 of the moving -- of the moving parties' motion record, and your document is page --


MS. SPOEL:  You can just give us the motion record page number.  That's probably fine for our purposes.

MR. VIRANI:  Sure.  So it would be page as 40 to 42 of the moving parties' motion record.  We have here redactions, and the heading of the slide is "Issue 3, Bill Presentment" and the two pages that follow are samples.  And I can indicate to the -- to the Board is that the slide here and the two that follow relate to bill presentment or bill presentation.  They canvass different manners of bill presentation for residential and non-residential customers, and the format of such bills.

The slides on the two subsequent pages propose sample bills for different fuel types.  So the slide on page 41 relates to natural gas, which was never actually recovered against and is therefore irrelevant on that basis, and the slide on page 42 relates to a sample bill for electricity.

As I have indicated, Madam Chair, material about how the cost recovery levy is presented in billings is not relevant.  The key, according to the Supreme Court test which frames your analysis, is how much is charged to the population and whether that amount reconciles with the actual cost of the program.  That's the economic analysis.

The manner of informing the population about that charge through billings or bill presentation is entirely irrelevant.

The second area or type of document that is irrelevant under this category, Madam Chair, is the Order in Council which was required to bring in force certain provision of the GEGEA, and just as a minor digression, that was an omnibus piece of legislation enacted in 2009 that had many components which you are familiar with, only one of which dealt with what becomes section 26.1 of the OEBA.

The validity of that order in council does not form part of the constitutional challenge initiated by Mr. Warren and his clients.

The moving parties do not claim that there is no statutory authority for this levy, nor is the potential lack of any such statutory authority germane to the Supreme Court's analysis about indirect taxes versus regulatory charges.

Neither the OIC nor any discussion thereon has any impact on the legal question as to whether the cost recovery mechanism entrenched in this regulation is intra vires the province.

In the result, we have made redactions in the following places, and there are only two instances within one document, and that document is found at the moving parties' motion record, page 53 and 55.

There is a reference to the order in council under page 53 of the motion record under "Proposed items for review" and there is a reference at page 55 of the motion record.  Towards the top of the page, there are two bullets that are observable, and beneath that there are other bullets, one of which includes a reference to the Green Energy and Green Economy Act as the enabling authority for the proposed regulation.

Below that bullet -- and I will come to this in a later part of my submission -- there is additionally solicitor-client advice from counsel at the Ministry of the Attorney General, respecting the need for the order in council, but I will, again, return to that later.

Madam Chair, I would next propose to move to our second broad-scale category, but I think we should probably perhaps take the lunch break now.

MS. SPOEL:  That would be a good idea.  Thank you.

We will come back in an hour.

MR. VIRANI:  So 1:30?  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:33 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:36 p.m.

MS. SPOEL:  All right, thank you.

MR. VIRANI:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  Prior to the break, I had just left off at the second generalized category of information that the Attorney General considers to be irrelevant to this analysis.  I am at page 13 of the Attorney General's factum at paragraph 31.

In our submission, program options considered but never implemented by government are irrelevant.  The moving parties claim that the government's cost recovery levy amounts to an indirect tax ultra vires the provinces' constitutional jurisdiction under section 92 of the Constitution Act, 1867.

At this point, I think it's useful to consider, and I will spend a little bit of time on this, explaining that all constitutional challenges are not alike.  As Mr. Charney indicated in his submissions this morning, there are challenges under the Charter of Rights and Freedoms which are somewhat newer in Canadian constitutional law versus those that are invoked under the division of powers which date back to Confederation.

In this context, we are dealing with a division of powers challenge whether the levy is ultra vires the prohibition against indirect taxation in section 92(2) of what is now called the Constitution Act, 1967, previously known as the BNA Act.

To simplify things a great deal, Madam Chair, in a Charter case, what a court does is they look to identify a Charter breach, for example, freedom of expression.  If a Charter breach is made out, the court determines whether that breach may nevertheless be justified or saved under section 1.  The section 1 analysis is governed by the historic case of Oakes which came from the 1980s, and is found at tab 17 of our materials.  You don't need to turn it up now.

But in the Oakes analysis, the government does a two-part -- the court does a two-part inquiry.  They look to determine whether the court -- whether the government has pursued a pressing and substantial objective, and, next, whether -- in pursuing that objective, whether the limitation on the Charter right is proportional.

They look to see whether as part of that proportionality test:  Does your legislation have a connection to that objective?  Secondly, does your legislation minimally impair?

And this is the crux.  What the court looks at in that kind of inquiry is whether the legislation impairs the Charter right as little as possible or whether there may be other less harmful options that the government could have implemented that still achieved the same objective.

And the third part of that little inquiry is whether there is a proportionality between the effects of the legislation and the objective which has been identified as being pressing and substantial.

So why that little segue, Madam Chair?  That little segue is important, because program alternatives may be relevant to a constitutional challenge under the Charter where there is an Oakes analysis under section 1, where a court is reviewing whether the government's legislation minimally impairs a right or whether there may be other less intrusive options that may achieve the government's objective.

On this point, I just refer you to the case of Hutterian Brethren at paragraph 53, and that's in our materials at tab 16.  Conversely, program alternatives are entirely irrelevant in a division of powers challenge such as this one.  In a division of powers case, there is no Charter section 1 analysis.  There is no Charter analysis.  The two are separate sort of inquiries.

In a division of powers case, the reviewing court simply asks:  Is the legislation intra vires or within the jurisdiction of the body that enacted it.

On this point, I would like you to turn up tab 18 of our materials.  It's the case Club Pro.  In this case, we had a challenge to the Smoke-Free Ontario Act, which is the Act that dare I say most people tend to like, because it means you can't smoke in bars anymore and no one's hair smells bad when they come back from the restaurants, et cetera.  We had a challenge --


MS. SPOEL:  It depends how old you are.

MR. WARREN:  I don't think that's what the legislation was for.

MR. VIRANI:  Let's qualify that.  At least I liked it, as one of those involved in defending it.

But in this context, we had a challenge to the Smoke-Free Ontario Act, and part of the challenge was under the Charter and part of it was under the division of powers.  And there was a motion brought to strike out the claim brought by the applicants, who were a series of bar owners.  That was successful, in large part, at first instance, and successful entirely in front of the Court of Appeal.

And the Court of Appeal said - and I would just ask you to turn up paragraph 10.  The Court of Appeal said:
"To determine whether a provincial law is validly enacted, the court must (i) determine the 'pith and substance' or essential character of the law, and (ii) classify the essential character with reference to the heads of power under ss. 91 and 92 the Constitution Act, 1867.  When considering the law's 'pith and substance', the court examines the purpose and effects of the legislation."


And there they reference the Firearms Act case.  I will just pause there for a moment.  Alternative program options have no bearing on the pith and substance of a statute or a regulation and are entirely irrelevant to a division of powers inquiry.  As the Court of Appeal continued in the very next paragraph:
"In our view, looking at the Act, it is plain and obvious that the pith and substance of the legislation is to promote the health of Ontarians.  No extrinsic evidence is required to arrive at this conclusion.  As a result, the Act is valid pursuant to the provincial government's jurisdiction over health."


In this case, Madam Chair, the only issue before this Board is whether the cost recovery option ultimately implemented by Ontario falls within provincial jurisdiction under section 92.  The existence of other options never enacted that themselves may or may not have been within provincial jurisdiction is completely irrelevant when this Board considers a particular program that was enacted pursuant to the division of powers.

Mr. Charney made this point earlier and I am making it again.  The moving parties' contention is to the contrary.  They contend at paragraph 30 of their factum - and I am referring to Mr. Warren's factum - that resolution of the present question before you requires:
"...an examination of the characteristics of the charge as compared with, among other things, the programs and charges that the government determined would not be permissible regulatory charges."


That position at paragraph 30 of their factum is incorrect on its face, and it's unsupported by jurisprudential authority. Now, we have heard from my friend that perhaps the Attorney General is making some kind of in terrorem argument about the lack of jurisprudential authority.  It's not an in terrorem argument, Madam Chair.  It's an argument about the necessity of having legal authority to substantiate the legal position being asserted by the moving parties.

At the very outset of this motion, in terms of compelling production of materials, the onus of establishing relevance is on my friend.  And in terms of meeting that onus, he needs to explain both how what he has pleaded, the constitutional question, is related to these materials, in terms of how that question is interpreted in law.

There is no authority for this position that he has asserted, and, in my respectful submission, it's not sufficient to say these are all sort of sui generis sort of matters.  They are all evaluated on case-by-case basis, because the Westbank factors are non-exhaustive.  That's simply an insufficient answer, Madam Chair.

There is a template.  There are legal parameters.  We are asking you to apply those legal parameters and dismiss this motion on that basis.

Is there any other authority that's been presented by the parties that are involved?  Mr. Millar at the very outset of this hearing informed you that APPrO supports the moving parties' position, which they do.  They filed a two-page letter yesterday at 5:00 p.m.  But, in any event, that letter cites no authority for the moving parties' position.

And the letter from the VECC, which was filed two days earlier than that, or at least received by us two days earlier than that, is to the same effect.  What we are left with is the submission of Mr. Thompson on behalf of the CME.

In that submission - and this was referenced by Mr. Charney - we do have legal authority that is cited, and that legal authority is the RJR-MacDonald case.  In our submission, Madam Chair and Ms. Conboy, the reliance on the RJR-MacDonald case is ill-founded.  The analysis in that case is in respect of the Charter and section 1; it's in respect of a minimal impairments inquiry, which is clearly concerned with alternative government options that could meet a government objective.

That's not the case we are dealing with here.  In that case, Justice La Forest was looking at the outright ban on tobacco advertising, so we had a federal piece of legislation, the Tobacco Products Control Act, and there was a determination that when you ban advertising, you are banning freedom of expression.  So section 2(b) is violated.  Check.

The question then moved over to:  Can the government justify the ban on -- the outright ban on government advertising?  And in the context of that inquiry, Justice La Forest, including several other judges, critiqued the government for withholding a study that it had carried out respecting alternatives to a total ban.


So what might some alternatives be?  Well, it's canvassed in the decision.  You can read it at your leisure later.  It's quite long, I apologize.

But they talked about, for example, alternatives such as not banning everything outright, but banning advertising targeted at youth or banning lifestyle advertising.  Could those types of less restrictive measures possibly meet the important government objective of reducing smoking?

The judges in that case found that less restrictive options were available and therefore ruled against the government on section 1.

What's critical in that case, Madam Chair, is that there was also a division of powers challenge in RJR-MacDonald; in that same very case, there was a challenge as to whether the Tobacco Products Control Act constituted a valid exercise of the federal government's jurisdiction over criminal law.

Interestingly -- and we would note significantly -- there is absolutely no reference whatsoever in the division of powers analysis to government options or the appropriateness or propriety of canvassing government options when you do a federalism inquiry.  That's fundamentally important to point out, Madam Chair.  Justice La Forest was writing on behalf of seven other judges in that case, and he writes for 30 paragraphs -– and again, it's very long.  They wrote longer decisions back then.  I think the clerks weren't as diligent, but the decision is extremely long, and in the context of the 30 paragraphs that he writes with respect to the criminal law power, nowhere does he voice the same criticism of government for having withheld evidence about government options.

That's important, your honour, because the government options aren't relevant.  The legislation was upheld on federalism grounds, and the court -- Justice La Forest determined that canvassing options presented by government was not relevant to the analysis.

And this point, again, was made by Mr. Charney earlier but I think it follows logically.  Options that you consider but don't implement are irrelevant to a court's analysis or this Board's analysis as to whether the actually enacted legislation is in pith and substance inter vires.  The question of whether the legislation as enacted falls within the government's jurisdiction is not affected by the possibility that another policy option, or ten other policy options, might have fallen within the government's jurisdiction.

So if you go back to the RJR context, the fact that criminal law power could support a limited ban on lifestyle advertising, perhaps, or perhaps could support a ban targeted only on advertising towards children, perhaps, could not assist the court in determining whether this particular ban, the outright ban, was inter vires the federal government's jurisdiction over criminal law.

And what's important, Your Honour, just to finish on this point, is that the RJR analysis is just one that we are identifying for you, but it's not an anomalous analysis.  No court has ever considered alternative program options as part of its inquiry in a division of powers case.  If this Board was to permit disclosure of the redacted material on the basis that alternative program options are, in fact, relevant to a division of powers inquiry, that would be precedent-setting and run contrary to Canadian constitutional law.

The parties in this case agree that the framework by the Supreme Court in Westbank and 620 Connaught governs the constitutional inquiry.  The framework in those cases involves no comparison whatsoever between the impugned levy and other possible levies or other possible recoveries that were considered but never implemented by government.

The analysis relates solely to the proper characterization of the actual levy imposed and its connection to the regulatory scheme.

Now, Madam Chair, at one point in Mr. Warren's submission, he also made a statement that the Consumers Council of Canada should be entitled to question why apportionment was effected against electricity users and no one else.  Why not natural gas?  Why not other fuel sources, et cetera?

The case law is quite clear in this regard, Madam Chair, that questioning the efficacy or the wisdom of a government program is not permitted in a division of powers analysis.

And the support for that is the Firearms case, which is cited in -- which you may perhaps have Club Pro open on your -- still open on your table.  In Club Pro at paragraph 21 -- so I am at tab 18 of our materials -- the Court of Appeal indicated that:

"Whether a legislative scheme is sufficiently comprehensive is a question of legislative efficacy, not one of constitutional validity."

And they refer to the Firearms reference at paragraph 57.
"No extrinsic evidence is necessary to determine the Act's constitutional validity."

If we turn up the Firearms reference, and that's at tab 15 of my materials –-

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Virani, when you are referring here, going back to the Club Pro case --


MR. VIRANI:  Yes?

MS. SPOEL:  -- which deals with the pith and substance -- which I think is a phrase I actually remember from my law school days, something I recognize here -- when you are looking at talking about pith and substance, really are you not dealing with, in general, let's just say health, which is, I guess, the example in this case?  Is it provincial –-you know, can it be characterized as a public health thing, therefore it's okay for the province?  If it's not health-related, then the province can't do it; the federal government would have to do it?

I mean, that's really what you are looking at, right, with a pith and substance kind of division of powers discussion?  In very, very --


MR. VIRANI:  In broad terms, yes, you are looking at the dominant purpose or the essential character of a law.

MS. SPOEL:  When you come to looking at a charge or a levy, and saying is it indirect -- is it indirect taxation or is it a regulatory charge, you are not really comparing it to -- well, I mean, I guess a federal government could do an indirect taxation, but you don't look at it and figure out whether it's indirect tax or a regulatory charge by looking at is it enumerated in the heads of division of powers in section 92, because it doesn't get you very far, it seems to me.

I mean, we have to go a step further in this one, and look at what the nature of the charge is, not what is the legislation say the charge is?  Or am I going down the wrong path here?

MR. VIRANI:  Well, I think, Madam Chair, if I may assist, I mean, pith and substance language is used in the very tax cases upon which we are relying, and I can take you to some of those passages, but the important point, the step-back point is that the inquiry that we are dealing with now is not a Charter inquiry.  It's a division of powers inquiry.

MS. SPOEL:  That I understand.

MR. VIRANI:  That much, we accept.

MS. SPOEL:  That I understand completely, and I understand your submissions on that point and I am quite happy that it's not a Charter.

MR. VIRANI:  Or else our authorities might be even longer than two volumes.

MS. SPOEL:  You'd have all kind of other issues.

No, I understand the distinction between the two types of inquiry.  I am just saying that how can we -- I am trying to look as a very practical matter -- how can we as a Board determine whether this is an indirect tax or a regulatory charge without -- or what do we need -- I will ask it in a more neutral way -- what do we need in order to do that?  And I am just wondering whether it's something a bit more than just the pith and substance of a legislation.

MR. VIRANI:  What you need to do in order to –- okay.  I will just take this in parts.

Your inquiry is not a Charter inquiry; it's a division of powers inquiry.  You are trying to ascertain whether this is a regulatory charge inter vires the province, or whether it's indirect taxation ultra vires the province.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.  In order to do that, you need to frame your analysis pursuant to the test set out in Westbank and Connaught, and in terms of analyzing the test in Westbank and Connaught, you look first and foremost to the legislation and to information in the legislation that indicates the essential character of the legislation or its dominant purpose.

What my friends are asking you to do is to look at extrinsic evidence, evidence about Cabinet materials that they say will help to inform your analysis.

MS. SPOEL:  So where the two of you diverge, if I can just maybe try to bring this down to -- so where the two positions diverge is that you say that you don't have to go any farther, that you have produced what you produced, but really that's -- the extrinsic material really shouldn't be required, and Mr. Warren and Mr. Thompson are saying you have to look at the extrinsic material in order to make your determination.  Is that your understanding of where the two diverge?

MR. VIRANI:  That's -- in general terms, that is the debate or the divide between the parties in this litigation.  There is certain extrinsic material which we have already provided via an affidavit --


MS. SPOEL:  Right.  I understand.

MR. VIRANI:  -- that is salient to the analysis, such as how much the charge would raise and what basis the amount was quantified, in terms of the HESP program and the OSTHI program, but what is important is that the analysis from our perspective is focussed on what has actually been enacted.

And what Mr. Warren and Mr. Thompson are asking, are trying to persuade you, is that in order to do your constitutional inquiry and to make your final determination, you need to look at both what was enacted and what was not enacted.  And, in our view, there is no support for that as a matter of law; that hypotheticals, speculative potentialities that were never actually materialized or implemented in law, are irrelevant to your analysis.

MS. SPOEL:  That's helpful.  Thank you.

MR. VIRANI:  You're welcome.

I may just draw your attention, just for your reference, Madam Chair, the case of 620 Connaught, which I believe is at tab 12 of our materials at paragraph 28.  There, the Supreme Court indicates, "In summary, if there is a regulatory scheme" -- I am at paragraph 28 of 620 Connaught, tab 12 of our materials:
"...if there is a regulatory scheme and it is found to be relevant to the person being regulated under step one, and there is a relationship between the levy and the scheme itself under step two, the pith and substance of the levy will be a regulatory charge and not a tax.  In other words, the dominant features of the levy will be its regulatory characteristics."


So I think it's a little bit helpful in terms of your earlier inquiry from a few minutes ago as to:  It's not is this criminal or is this property rights, but it's, rather, is this something that is an indirect tax versus a regulatory charge.

It's slightly different analysis, but it still harkens back to the same stuff we all learned in the first part of our common law class way back when.  And I learned it, too, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  I am sure you did, better than I.

MR. VIRANI:  It was just less popular than the Charter stuff; that's all.  If I could just have your indulgence for a moment.

So, again, I believe I was making the point, Madam Chair, that in our view it is not the role of a court or a tribunal, when reviewing an impugned levy under the division of powers, to question the wisdom of the chosen policy against its alternatives.  I think Mr. Warren again made the submission in oral argument this morning where he said that the CCC should be entitled to question why recovery was made against electricity utilities and ratepayers, and not against natural gas or other consumers.

As we have indicated, in the Firearms Act there is a reference to the inappropriateness of that kind of inquiry, and I believe I was trying to take you to the Firearms Act, which is Reference Re: Firearms Act, which is at tab 15 of our materials, and I am at paragraph 57.  So that's tab 15, paragraph 57.  And here the Supreme Court writes:
"We also appreciate the concern of those who oppose this Act..."

Just parenthetically, obviously this Firearms reference is about the gun registry, a matter that's still topical in terms of day-to-day affairs in Canada.  Here the court indicated:
"We also appreciate the concern of those who oppose this Act on the basis that it may not be effective or it may be too expensive. Criminals will not register their guns, Alberta argued.  The only real effect of the law, it is suggested, is to burden law-abiding farmers and hunters with red tape.  These concerns were properly directed to and considered by Parliament; they cannot affect the Court's decision.  The efficacy of a law, or lack thereof, is not relevant to Parliament's ability to enact it under the division of powers analysis."


That's the very same language cited by the Court of Appeal in Club Pro.  And we don't need to turn it up, but going back even to the RJR-MacDonald case which is cited by Mr. Thompson, in his division of powers analysis, Justice La Forest makes the same point.  At paragraph 44, he said:
"The goal in a pith and substance analysis is to determine parliament's underlying purpose in enacting a particular piece of legislation.  It is not to determine whether parliament has chosen that purpose wisely or whether parliament would have achieved that purpose more effectively by legislating in other ways."

So that is not what this Board's inquiry is about.  Whether electricity was the right option, whether natural gas should have been thrown into the mix, whether propane or other fuels shouldn't have been left by the wayside, that's not what you are addressing here and that shouldn't be permitted in terms of disclosure.

In the present case, information related to proposed cost recovery programs, potential additional levies or draft alternative funding models, none of which were ever implemented, are irrelevant to this Board's inquiry.  The moving parties' unsupported assertion at paragraph 29 of their factum that disposing of the constitutional question on the merits, quote, "must certainly encompass the examination of the factors and programs considered and rejected by the government" is untenable.

Again, the assertion here is not supported by any law and lacks any foundation in Canadian constitutional jurisprudence. Now, at this point, I think it may be useful to address another point of Mr. Warren's submissions raised this morning.  He said in oral argument that examining the programs or options considered and rejected by the government is required in order to help inform the determination on part 1 of the Westbank test.

Now, part is 1 of the Westbank test involves whether there is a complete, complex and detailed code of regulation, and if I had it correctly from this morning, Mr. Warren said that whether the levy is connected to a complete and complex and detailed code of regulation, he can help make argumentation in that regard if he both understands what was implemented by government and also what was not implemented by government.

That submission, from our perspective, is untenable.  A reviewing court or tribunal determines the existence of a detailed and complex code of regulation by looking at the statutory framework itself.  It is knowable on its face.  That framework work is set out in our affidavit.  The affidavit of Mr. Barry Beale is not before you on the dais now.  It has been filed with the Board, and I would just provide you a reference to paragraphs 10 to 12 of that affidavit.

But it's also instructive if we look back at the 620 Connaught decision.  620 Connaught again is at tab 12 of our book of authorities, and I would direct your attention to paragraph 30.  In this case, on the facts, they were dealing with a business licensing fee and which was levied against businesses in Jasper National Park.  And the question was whether that licensing fee was properly a regulatory charge or improperly a tax.

The court explained, in applying the first part of the test, that they look at the statutory framework, end of inquiry.  So I am reading from paragraph 30.
"The first Westbank criterion is the presence of a 'complete, complex and detailed code of regulation'.  Jasper National Park exists and operates under an overarching statutory scheme which includes the National Parks Act and the Parks Agency Act, together with the regulations.  Some of these regulations apply only to specific parks; there are even regulations applying specifically to the town of Jasper.  However, the majority of the regulations relate to the management of all national parks.  These regulations range from wildlife management to traffic provisions.  Read in conjunction with the two Acts, these regulations establish how services, rights and privileges are obtained, what is prohibited within the parks, and to whom authority is delegated.  Together, these statutes and the regulations form a complete and detailed scheme of how Jasper National Park should operate.  Therefore, the first of the regulatory scheme criteria is satisfied."

In that passage, Madam Chair, what's significant is that there is no reference to any extrinsic material.  There is no certainly no reference to any Cabinet documents.  Indeed, we would argue that there is nothing in a Cabinet document that would tell you that something is or isn't part of a regulatory scheme.

And even if there was, Madam Chair, that's not relevant to the analysis.  What the Supreme Court is telling you in paragraph 30 is that we look at the scheme on its face.  What do the statutes say?  What do the regulations say?

In the paragraphs that I have cited to you in Mr. Beale's affidavit, he lists what are some of the components of the scheme, the Electricity Act, the OEBA Act, the Green Energy and Green Economy Act, market rules of the IESO, et cetera.  Those are knowable on their face.

Determining whether the scheme exists or what that scheme is comprised of is not something that can be informed by entering into the realm of Cabinet deliberation.

And in any event, Madam Chair, just to conclude on this point, I think your intervention was apt.  The mere fact that there may have been one, two, five or even 18 policy options that might have been rejected by Cabinet does not inform the analysis as to whether they were rejected by Cabinet because they are not -- do not form part of the regulatory scheme.  They may have been rejected for a host of other reasons.

There are, as I've stated and as Justice Abella stated in the Court of Appeal, as she then was, in the Anglers & Hunters case, there are political, partisan, social and economic and considerations that are constantly evaluated by government.

If the government rejected any of the options that Mr. Warren wants to inspect on any of those bases, it doesn't get him any further along the lines of inquiring about the existence of a complex, complete and detailed code of regulation.

So turning to the documents, Madam Chair, in our submission, in the instant case the Board must determine the constitutionality of this levy with regard to the actual assessment in Ontario Regulation 66/10.  Speculation and other discussions as to what OReg 66/10 may have included are unrelated to this proceeding, and they are irrelevant to your inquiry.

As a result, certain information has been redacted on the basis of irrelevance.  The first generalized category - and for your benefit, I am at -- in my factum I am at paragraph 36 - the first group of such information is information that pertains to the PowerHouse program.

That program was an energy conservation program undertaken as a pilot project that was never renewed.  Discussions related to the possibility of assessing the cost of the PowerHouse program through a special purpose charge are not relevant to this proceeding, as the program was discontinued and no cost recovery assessment was ever made respecting PowerHouse under Reg 66/10.  Discussions of PowerHouse were therefore redacted at locations listed in paragraph 36 of our factum, starting at the top of page 17.

Again, just by way of example, in the motion record filed by Mr. Warren, at pages 22 -- we have a response to some of the questions taken under advisement and this is JT1.5, Exhibit 3.  So I am at page 22 of Mr. Warren's motion record, and there on page 22, we have reference to the PowerHouse program, and including a -- in the large redaction, a description of the program, in terms of what it entails, how it operated and what types of conservation measures were relevant to that program.

If you forward a few pages ahead in Mr. –- in the CCC's motion record to pages 27 and 28, what you have here are cost recovery examples.  The cost recovery example -- understanding this redaction is informed a little bit by turning the page previously and looking at page 26, where you have on page 26 cost recovery examples for the Ontario Solar Thermal Heating Initiative, and sample project 1 is listed there.

On pages 27 and 28, however, what we have got is cost recovery example for PowerHouse, and what has been redacted are six hypothetical sample projects, which indicate the type of displaced energy and the invoice split.

The moving parties' challenge in this case relates to cost recovery assessment that was undertaken in 2010 in relation to HESP and OSTHI.  As no cost recovery was ever made in respect of PowerHouse, all such material, in our submission, is clearly irrelevant to this Board's inquiry about the constitutionality of the levy.

The second area, Madam Chair, is in respect of assessments against natural gas utilities and ratepayers, and I am at page 17 of the Attorney General's factum.

Preliminary discussions were undertaken respecting the possibility of assessing natural gas-related costs of the HESP and OSTHI programs against natural gas.  Ultimately, however, as this Board will be well aware, the levy under Ontario Regulation 66/10 did not assess natural gas-related costs, nor did it apply to gas utilities or gas ratepayers.

As a result, the preliminary policy discussions have no bearing on the constitutionality of the impugned charge, which was levied solely against electricity-related costs of the conservation programs undertaken in 2009, 2010.  As such, discussions of recovery against natural gas were redacted in different locations within the materials.  Those locations are found at page 17 of our factum, and I will provide you with one example.

In -- if we turn to page 23 of the moving parties' motion record, this is, again, JT1.5, Exhibit 3.  What we have on this slide is the heading "Timeline" and what page 23 provides is a broad timeline that proposes assessments against both electricity and natural gas.  It indicates the timings and dates of such assessments, the total amount to be assessed and the assessment method.

As the assessment against natural gas never materialized, in our submission, this material is irrelevant.  The proposed timing, dates and amounts of assessment for electricity were similarly not followed, and are also irrelevant.

A second example of redactions that relate to natural gas on the basis of irrelevance is found at pages 50 and 51 -- can I assist you with anything, Madam Chair?

MS. SPOEL:  I am puzzling, Mr. Virani, because I am trying to think -- without getting into the merits of the actual argument on these issues, which is not before us today -- I am wondering if it's clear without looking an at the -– with only looking at the redacted copies, and from what's in your factum, there was a series of material that went to Cabinet or the appropriate places that involved the possibility of recovery against natural gas ratepayers and electricity ratepayers for programs that appeared -- from what I can read in them and what's there so far -- appeared to have some benefit -- and I am using that in a neutral term -- some benefit for both classes of ratepayers.

And yet the charge was only applied to the electricity ratepayers.

So I am wondering whether Mr. Warren and Mr. Thompson might want to -- or how we would deal with the argument that it's not -- the regulatory charge isn't connected with the scheme, because the scheme applied to two classes and you only applied the charge to one.

Now, I don't know whether that's -- not having gone into the merits of it all, I don't know whether that's even a valid argument.  Maybe I am just -- but I am wondering how, if you sort of -- we understand -- we can read the regulation and we can read it on its face and we understand what it applies to, and so on.  So there is no kind of mystery there.

But is it going to be your argument on the merits of this that even the discussion of whether having a charge that could have been applied to two sectors, but was only applied to one - let's just put it in those terms - that's not even something we can inquire into, and, therefore, we don't need any evidence on that when it comes to the looking at the scheme?

I'm thinking about it as part of the regulatory scheme.  Is there some place for a discussion of the fact it might have been to gas, or why is there no -- I guess the question for you is:  Why is there no place for that discussion, because if we follow your submissions, we won't have that on the record and, therefore, people won't be able to refer to it in their argument.

And I am wondering why it is that you say that that inquiry will be of absolutely no relevance when it comes to the merits, because we obviously have to think of this in terms of what the ultimate arguments might encompass.

MR. VIRANI:  I think that the short answer, Madam Chair, is that your analysis has to relate to the cost recovery charge as implemented.  It's a given that the provisions of the statute contemplated recovery against possibly natural gas and possibly electricity.  If we had a statute without a regulation, there would be no cost recovery at all, and, again, we wouldn't be in litigation.

What we have is litigation that has been initiated on the basis of cost recovery that took place.  The vehicle for that cost recovery is the reg, and the reg pertains solely to electricity.  For this Board to, in the context of analyzing a question about indirect taxation versus proper regulatory charge, broaden its scope to look at matters that are not covered on the regulation, whether it's the PowerHouse program or whether it's natural gas, is in our view impermissible and not warranted.

Nothing turns on the fact that natural gas possibly could have been recovered against.  The fact is it was not recovered against.  There is nothing, again, in the case law or in the materials that would support my friend's argument that analysis of a cost recovery charge should include not only what was recovered, but what possibly could have been recovered.

Obviously the scope of that is quite broad and would lead to a potentially wide, unduly wide, potentially even infinite scope of sort of inquiry in terms of both disclosure and the ultimate question on the merits.

This is something -- this matter obviously would have informed the decision of this Board to originally grant intervenor status to a number of gas-related entities.  We appreciate that.  This matter came up during the cross-examination of the government's witness, at which time the government repeatedly asserted that questions that relate to natural gas are not relevant.

Those refusals have not been challenged by any of the parties that cross-examined Mr. Beale, and there were roughly six of them that did.

MS. SPOEL:  The fact -- but they are not the ones who are going to have to make the decision, and so I am looking at it purely selfishly here, from the point of view of the Board who is going to be charged with making this decision, and what materials are we reasonably going to have before us or what materials do we reasonably require in order to make a decision on the various arguments that are -- and obviously, we would like to have the whole range of well-considered arguments before we make a decision.

So I guess the fact that people didn't object is perhaps neither here nor there as far as our task is concerned.  It's of some weight, obviously.  But, anyway, I think you have answered my question, and obviously we will ponder it some more.

MR. VIRANI:  If it may assist, your honour, perhaps if we look at it from first principles, when we are dealing with sort of indirect taxation, the concern is that the government is doing through the back door something that it should have done through the legislature or through the House of Commons on a federal level.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.

MR. VIRANI:  And the concern is that the government is just generating revenue and depositing it into consolidated revenue fund in manner that is inappropriate.  And what you look at is the amount of money that has actually been collected and whether that amount of money in some way conforms or reconciles with the cost of a given program.

If there is some marrying up of those two entities - this is Eurig case, and it's referenced in Connaught and Westbank - if there is marrying up of those two notions, then we have arguably a regulatory charge.

If you have a collection of $53 million, but we have the HESP and OSTHI programs costing the government hypothetically $5 million, you have a significant sort of disparity, and then it tends to look a bit more like it's a way of just generating revenue for the public coffers.

If that's the logic that informs the indirect tax versus regulatory charge analysis, from our perspective, how could possible recovery that never happened, that never contributed to the $53 million, ever be relevant?  It's not relevant at all.

What's relevant in this context is whether the $53 million collected roughly approximates with the cost of the HESP and OSTHI programs for the government in terms of subsidies it gave to people who changed their windows, put a solar panel on their roof, and thereby reduced their consumption of electricity.  That's what's relevant.

MS. SPOEL:  But aren't those being paid for?  Isn't the charge being applied to a whole lot of people who aren't putting up solar panels or windows?  The general electricity ratepayer is paying the cost of those programs through this charge or this levy, if you want to call it that -- through this levy that is going to directly benefit, if you wish, the people who are -- who have participated in the programs.

There is a direct benefit to participants, and I think your argument is going to be that there is indirect benefit to electricity ratepayers as a whole, because they -- less electricity will be required.  And I have read Mr. Beale's affidavit, so I have an understanding of what the
general -- and that's fine.

I guess, I mean, you are connecting the cost of the program with the cost of recovery of the charge, and I think that's -- I am sure that's a valid and important point, but isn't there also some aspect that has to do with who benefits from the program?  If Jasper National Park, to take that example, were charging people licence fees who didn't actually operate a business in Jasper National Park, that would be a problem, wouldn't it?

There has got to be some connection with the people being charged the fee with the benefits of the program if it's going to be a properly characterized as regulatory charge, do there not?

MR. VIRANI:  Okay, a few responses.

MS. SPOEL:  I realize we're getting --


MR. VIRANI:  We are getting into the merits, yes.

MS. SPOEL:  But I still have that nagging question of how are we going to have a -- can we have a proper discussion on the merits with the materials that are before us today?  I am not saying -- I am not saying that we can't.  I am just asking -- I am asking that question.

That's the question that's in the back of my mind:  What do we need before us in order to have a proper discussion of the merits?

MR. VIRANI:  Okay.  So the response to that, to the very last point you are making, is that, in our position, the material that's already been filed, the material that arises from the cross-examination of Barry Beale, the responses that we have given thereto and any material that arises based on legitimate questions that are relevant from his second cross-examination, is what is required by this Board.  And the material that's before this Board that's redacted is not required.

On the issue of benefits, it's important -- and this is getting significantly into the merits, so I just put a little caveat on the submission, but the part -- the fourth part of the test in Westbank is whether there is relationship between the regulation and the person being regulated where the person being regulated either benefits from or causes the need for the regulation.

So there is a dual component, and it's disjunctive.  It can be one or the other.  And you have Mr. Beale's affidavit.  You have indicated to me that you have read it.  Our submissions are located therein at paragraphs 24 through 42 about how that part of the test is sort of met.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, thank you.

MR. VIRANI:  To finish that point, Madam Chair, the redacted portions that are before you now do not relate to that issue.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.  No, I understand that from your submissions.  I mean, I don't -- it's fairly obvious from looking at the face of them that anything to do with gas has been redacted, and so on.  Well, I shouldn't say fairly obvious; it's been explained in your factum.

MR. VIRANI:  I am just trying to find my spot. I believe I was at -- if I can move to the third sort of category, so I am at page 18 of our factum -- a lot of flipping around of the pages.  I apologize, Madam Chair and Ms. Conboy, but page 18 of our factum, we discuss proposed funding options, which are, in our view, equally irrelevant.

And here, it's important to note that the government considered several options respecting the HESP and OSTHI programs, including, as I mentioned earlier, avoiding cost recovery all together, pursuing cost recovery from natural gas, and recovering selected costs outside of the regulation.

None of those options were ultimately enacted and none are reflected in the regulation currently before this Board.  The hypothetical options do not inform the Board's characterization of the impugned levy under the Supreme Court's test.

We have identified the various provisions that we feel are irrelevant and the locations in which they are redacted at page 18 of our materials.

As an example, Madam Chair, I would ask you to turn up the moving parties' motion record at page 50, and I am at JT1.6, 1.7, Exhibit 2.

That document, you will see at the top of the page, it says:  "3.0, Proposed Course of Action"?

It lists an option 1, an option 2 and an option 3.

Option 2 on page 50 outlines the possibility of foregoing cost recovery all together, and the consequences for government.  Obviously, that option was not exercised.  Right?  We have discussed that at the outset.  The government instead enacted 26.1 of the OEBA, and OReg 66/10, which gives rise to these proceedings.

The current challenge is framed by the action the government undertook to recover its cost.  Speculation about avoiding cost recovery all together is completely irrelevant.

The reference to -- if we move forward in the motion record to page 56, so I am in Exhibit 3 under documents -- under Response JT1.6 and 1.7, Exhibit 3, page 56 of the motion record.

There is a redaction in the middle of the page, which addresses the possibility of recovering additional costs entirely outside of the regulation.  You asked me about this this morning prior to the lunch break.  And that refers to recovery that would not take place within the regulation, but occurred through different processes outside of it.

As I have already outlined, relevance is framed by the moving parties' pleading.  The cost recovery outside of the regulation has not been challenged by the moving parties, and in the result, any such recovery beyond 66/10 is clearly irrelevant.

Moving in my factum, Madam Chair, to the third sort of generalized category about different considerations or other considerations, I am at page 19 of the Attorney General's factum, paragraph 38.

The courts have acknowledged, Madam Chair, that government decision-making is informed by a host of considerations, none of which are salient to the question of the validity of legislation.

In the Ontario Federation of Anglers & Hunters case at paragraph 53, Justice Abella, as she then was, indicated:

"Governments are motivated to make regulations by political, economic, social or partisan considerations.  These motives, even when known, are irrelevant to whether the regulation is valid."

In our submission, concerns respecting items such as stakeholder interest, communications, collection, the cash flow of parties that are affected by this charge, the practices in other jurisdictions and regulatory design are some of the routine matters that governments consider as part of this law-making function that is outside the scope of this Board's review.

Those considerations have no bearing on the legal analysis under the Supreme Court test in Westbank, and they don't assist this Board in determining the constitutional validity of the impugned levy.

If we turn to the Ontario Federation case -- and it's at tab 1 of our materials, so just turning to the case that I was referring to where Justice Abella is writing, and this is a case in relation to the spring bear hunt and there was an effort for expansive examination for discovery of both the Premier and the Minister involved, a request that was ultimately rejected.

In that case at paragraph 50, Justice Abella wrote, starting in the middle of paragraph 50:

"There is nothing inappropriate, let alone unlawful, about the government consulting with and considering the public's reaction to a policy measure.  To be politically expedient is to be politically responsive to selected and discrete public concerns.  That is what governments do."



And she continued later on in paragraph 51:

"In any event, it is irrelevant whether the Premier and/or the Minister were influenced by political expediency, this being a consideration which is an accepted, expected and legitimate aspect of the political process."

Mr. Thompson, in his written material at paragraph 8, relies on a B.C. decision, the B.C. teachers' case, for the proposition that there should be a "...broad analysis of relevance in constitutional cases."

If we turn up that decision, Madam Chair -- and it's found at tab 22 of our materials -- I think a full look at the passage is instructive, because the statement cited by Mr. Thompson is significantly qualified, in my respectful submission.

So I am at tab 22 of the Attorney General's book of authorities, paragraph 76.  There, the court writes:

"In my view, the authorities support a broad analysis of relevance in constitutional cases."

That's Mr. Thompson's point.  The court goes on, however, to note:

"However, there is no reason to depart in this case from the general rule that extrinsic evidence pertaining to government deliberations, in order to be admissible, must relate to legislative purpose and the intent of the Legislature has a whole.
"In considering whether such evidence is admissible, it is essential to avoid politicizing the judicial process.  The courts must not become a secondary forum for debating the merits of government decisions."

Pause there.  In my respectful submission, that's exactly what Mr. Warren was asking you to do this morning, when he was openly questioning whether electricity should have been recovered against on its own, or whether other fuel sources should also have been recovered against.
"Cross-examining politicians on their motivations for introducing legislation is unlikely to aid in examining the purpose of the legislation."

If we continue down the page to paragraph 79:

"The restrictions recognized by Blair J. ..."

And that's a reference to the Ontario Teachers' case, which is also in our authorities.


"...and the Ontario Court of Appeal, ..."
That's a reference to Justice Abella in Anglers & Hunters.
"...and the distinction urged here between the deliberations of the legislative and executive branches, are cogent.  Were it otherwise, then identical pieces of legislation enacted in different provinces could be found simultaneously constitutional or unconstitutional, depending on the intentions or actions of the government in introducing the legislation.  That simply cannot be the case.
"The [Attorney General] points out that, if the teachers are correct, every time a constitutional challenge is raised in the courts, the governments would be obliged to provide a senior political aide to justify and explain the evolution of thought underpinning the challenged legislation, and to provide all the documents and correspondence any member of the government has had on the topic.  It would risk turning every constitutional case into 'political theatre', with the courts asked to pass judgment on the legitimacy of government motivations in introducing legislation.  To permit this attack on the sovereign autonomy of the Legislature would imperil public confidence in both government and the courts, and the nature of their respective roles."


That's important and significant language, Madam Chair, for a number of reasons, not the least of which is that I think this warning in the passage I have just read to you is directly related to the possible fallout of Mr. Warren's earlier submission, which is that because indirect tax cases are case by case and always fact-specific, and because the Westbank parameters are not exhaustive, virtually anything could be open to scrutiny.

If that's the case, what you would indeed have is the risk of turning every constitutional case into political theatre, in our submission.

The Board must be cautious of:
"the risk of turning the court process into an extended battleground for extracting information pertaining to the ongoing political debate over the targeted legislation - as opposed to being a process for determining the Charter and other legal parameters within which governments must act."


And that quote comes from the case of Ontario Teachers' Federation versus Ontario.  That's the decision of Justice Blair's cited in the passage I just read to you.  It's found in our materials at tab 25, and the passage I read to you is at pages 146 and 148.  It's tab 25 of the government's materials.

In the result, discussions of such considerations, including the impact of the levy on stakeholders, communication plans -- can I assist you, Madam Chair?

MS. SPOEL:  No, sorry.

MR. VIRANI:  Disclosure, the timing and manner of collection, cash flow concerns and practices in other jurisdictions contained in advice to the Minister and in Cabinet documents do not assist this Board in determining the characterization of the impugned levy in accordance with the Westbank test.

In the result, information relating to such types of considerations has been redacted from certain documents.  I am now within our factum at page 21, Madam Chair.

In our submission, Madam Chair, redactions regarding stakeholder issues and interests are not relevant.  Material relating to stakeholder materials and issues are not relevant and have been redacted.  The listing of such redactions is located at page 21 of our factum.

For example, I would ask you the turn up page 57 of the motion record, which is JT1.6 and 1.7, Exhibit 3.  So, again, I am at page 57, and here we have a redaction in the middle of the page under the heading "Section 7 Stakeholder Consultation".  That redaction tracks the outcome of stakeholder consultations among a series of institutional groups and representative associations.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, just as -- I am just a little bit mindful of the time, and I think that on these issues, the description in your factum --


MR. VIRANI:  Is sufficient?

MS. SPOEL:  -- and the kinds of information that's in there is probably sufficient for our purposes to be able to come to a conclusion on these, and I don't think you need to refer us to -- and the practice in other jurisdictions.  We can look at those and probably --


MR. VIRANI:  That's fine.  That helps expedite things.

MS. SPOEL:  That might help move things along a bit.

MR. VIRANI:  Okay.  So you have our position on stakeholder interests, communications, disclosure options, timing and manner of collection, et cetera.

MS. SPOEL:  The only one that you might want to get into or show us -- explain a little bit to us is the last point, which is the regulatory design considerations, including proposed cost benefit analyses, because I think those were perhaps related to some of the questions asked on the cross-examination.

MR. VIRANI:  Certainly.

MS. SPOEL:  Just some indication of what sort of material has been redacted there.

MR. VIRANI:  Yes.  So in this respect, our basic position is that regulatory design considerations, including cost benefit analyses that were proposed but never implemented, and regulation timing proposals that were not followed, are irrelevant.  I think it's important just at the outset, before taking you to some of the documents, to note that in two different instances in the cross, which you are quite familiar with, Madam Chair, Mr. Beale in -- and I can give you the references, it's page 64, lines 8 to 26, and page 49, line 3 to page 50, line 15 -- conceded that cost benefit analyses were never undertaken; and, secondly, that a total resource costing was not done in this case.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  So that -- so what you are saying here is that it was never done, and therefore any references to it are not relevant?

MR. VIRANI:  Exactly.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. VIRANI:  Is that sufficient?

MS. SPOEL:  I think so.

MR. VIRANI:  Our overall position on relevance - and then I'll just move quickly to solicitor-client privilege - but our overall position on relevance in terms of these broad -- three broad areas, legislation that's not impugned, such as the OIC, the regulation; program options that were never implemented; and, thirdly, stakeholder and other types of miscellaneous considerations that are part of routine law making for government, is that none of this material is relevant and none of it informs your legal analysis.

In our submission, the moving parties have failed to discharge their legal onus.  And we have heard a lot about onuses back and forth and who has the onus here and who has the onus there, and when we have redacted it, where does it fall?  It's important -- I don't think this is controversial.  I am sure my friend will correct me if it is, but on the baseline proposition, when a party seeks to have access to materials or to a witness for the purposes of discovering or cross-examining, the onus is on them to demonstrate that that information or that witness has evidence that would be material, evidence that would be relevant to their claim.

On that point, Madam Chair, they have not articulated a legal theory supported in law upon which they could found such a claim.

MS. SPOEL:  Can I just ask you, Mr. Virani, before you move on to solicitor-client privilege, a lot of the argument that you and Mr. Charney made earlier was with respect to the fact that these are Cabinet documents and, therefore, are intrinsically to be confidential, unless there is a good reason to have them produced, if I can paraphrase.

I am just -- Ms. Conboy has pointed out to me that some of these documents specifically say that they are Cabinet documents and some of them do not, and things like Exhibit JT -- and if you just look at page 21 of your factum to make this simple, Exhibit JT1.5B, Exhibit 1, slide deck to update Minister.  A slide deck to update the Minister, does that come within -- in your view, is that a Cabinet document or is that some other piece of advice?

And just because a lot of your submissions were based on their status as Cabinet documents, I don't know that they all actually fall into that category.

MR. CHARNEY:  That's fair.  I should have been more careful when I was speaking.  When I was speaking about Cabinet documents, what I intended under that umbrella - and I think when you look at the cases, this is supported - is both advice to Ministers who are part of Cabinet, as well as the document -- the Cabinet documents themselves.

So I intend the umbrella to cover not just what goes on at the Cabinet meeting, which we would normally refer to as Cabinet documents, such as MB20s, which are prepared specifically for Cabinet, but also advice prepared specifically for a Cabinet minister, and that is the advice to the Minister that you see.

So all of these documents full under that general umbrella, and when you look at the cases, when they are talking about decision-making at the highest levels, we would say that includes not only the decision-making within the Cabinet meeting, but the decision-making of the Cabinet minister, him or herself, who then takes it to Cabinet.

MS. SPOEL:  So just quickly flipping through some of these, JT1.5, which is just described as Exhibit 1, copy of GEA rationale for reallocation, is that one briefing the Minister or is that one going to Cabinet?  There is no way we can really tell.  And I am not sure that anything turns on it.  It is just sort of nice to know, or would it be easier to give us a list afterwards and just let us know the status of each of these?

MR. VIRANI:  We can do that, if that's beneficial, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  I would just like to know -- it may be somewhere in your factum they are described sufficiently well that we will be able to figure it out.

MR. THOMPSON:  I think you might find it in schedule 1.  They describe the documents as going to Minister's staff, Minister of Energy.  There is only one going to Cabinet.

MS. SPOEL:  Right, and that JT1.6, I guess.

Okay, that's helpful, but if there is any more detail about anything that's not reflected in that table 1 or schedule 1 in your factum, maybe you can let us know.

MR. VIRANI:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Virani before you move on to solicitor-client privilege, do you have an estimate of how long -- I am not sure that's as controversial a topic as the others.

MR. VIRANI:  I don't think it is.  I think Mr. Charney has covered off a little bit of it.  I think perhaps ten minutes.

MS. SPOEL:  Maybe we should take our afternoon break now and come back at five past 3:00, and we can finish up with that.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:47 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:07 p.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Virani.


MR. VIRANI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Our submissions with respect to solicitor-client privilege are found at page 31 of our factum.  And Mr. Charney has touched on some of the content of our submission, and I will attempt to avoid any duplication, so that we can move along expeditiously.

The basic point, Madam Chair, is that you have an unredacted version of the materials, yourself and Ms. Conboy, save for the portions that are blacked out on the basis of solicitor-client privilege, and the basis for that is that, in our respectful submission, this Board doesn't have the jurisdiction to go behind the assertions of solicitor-client privilege.

There is jurisdiction that is fairly broad contained in section 19 of the OEBA, and you will be well familiar with that.  Section 19 sub (1) says:

"The Board has in all matters within its jurisdiction authority to hear and determine all questions of law and of fact."

What I would draw your attention to is the phrase "all matters within its jurisdiction" and in our submission, that jurisdiction is qualified by the Statutory Powers Procedures Act.

We have included that Act at the back of our factum as part of schedule B.  Section 5.4, sub (1) of the SPPA, if you would like to turn to it, Madam Chair, it's -- if we go to our bound factum under tab B5, under tab B5, you will see the provision of the SPPA, and it relates to disclosure.

And that provision says, 5.4(1):

"If the tribunal's rules made under section 25.1 deal with disclosure, the tribunal may, at any stage of the proceedings before all hearings are complete, make orders for..."

And then there is a list:

"... the exchange of documents; the oral and written examination of a party; exchange of witness statements; provision of particulars; and any other form of disclosure."

Under subsection (2) within that same section, there is an exception, and that exception, in our view, is quite significant.

What the SPPA states is that the wide-ranging ambit of disclosure that can be ordered by the tribunal is qualified by the failure to authorize:

"... the making of any order requiring disclosure of privileged information."

In our view, that language is explicit and serves as a check on what is permitted to you under section 19.

Mr. Charney also took you to the Sopinka -- portion of the Sopinka text.  What is significant is that Sopinka and Lederman, in that very reference, cites a Supreme Court case, Blood Tribe.  Blood Tribe is in our materials at paragraph -- at tab 25.

And if I could just briefly ask you to turn to that, so tab 25 of the Attorney General's book of authorities, which is, I think, in volume 1, the last tab -- no, I have got that wrong.  Tab 45, I apologize.  Tab 45.

If we just turn up paragraph 2 in that decision, Madam Chair, the point is made by Justice Binnie on behalf of the court -- and that paragraph is side-barred.  Commencing in the middle of that paragraph, Justice Binnie explains -- in this case, we were dealing with the Privacy Commissioner, and he stated:

"The Privacy Commissioner is an officer of Parliament vested with administrative functions of great importance, but she does not, for the purposes of reviewing solicitor-client confidences, occupy the same position of independence and authority as a court.  It is well established that general words of a statutory grant of authority to an office holder such as an ombudsperson or regulator, including words as broad as those contained in section 12..., do not confer a right to access solicitor-client documents, even for the limited purpose of determining whether the privilege is properly claimed.  That role is reserved for the courts."

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Virani, is there anybody who is going to assert that we do have the authority -- Mr. Warren, Mr. Thompson, that we -- because if no one is going to take the position contrary to that before the Attorney General, I think we are quite happy to accept that the Statutory Powers Procedures Act precludes us from inquiring into these matters, unless you wish to argue the contrary.

MR. THOMPSON:  I was going to assert that briefly in reply.

MR. VIRANI:  So perhaps I will continue, Madam Chair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you want me to assert it now, and then the --


MR. VIRANI:  I think we have heard the submission, and Madam Chair, again, I would just -- without duplicating, I harken back to the point Mr. Charney made at the very outset, which is the propriety of that kind of assertion being made by Mr. Thompson and the CME.

They are not the moving parties in the motion.  There is case law cited in our factum about the impropriety of intervening parties broadening the scope of any particular litigation.  That's the case of Bedford in the Court of Appeal, and it's cited at page 62 of our factum.

The point being that what Justice Binnie is indicating – and this is the very language that's cited by Sopinka and Lederman in the text - is that express words are necessary to permit a regulatory or other statutory official to pierce the privilege.  The express language that we have in your context is actually quite the opposite; it's a derogation of the authority, as opposed to a provision of that authority.

That, in our view, is a full answer to the matter.

In terms of if solicitor-client privilege and the Attorney General's assertion of it is still at issue, in our view, a few more submissions are merited.

The privilege of solicitor -- solicitor-client privilege is fundamental to the proper functioning of the legal system.  That's a fairly trite statement of law, but that's also contained in the Blood Tribe decision at paragraph 9.

It's also important - and I don't think this is in contention between the parties - that solicitor-client privilege is not the purview of private sector counsel; it equally applies in the government context.

There is a significant quote to this respect in the Campbell decision, which is, again, in our materials.  And we don't need to turn it up, Madam Chair, but in fact, the quote is contained in our factum at paragraph 65.

But the upshot of that quote is that in Campbell, the Supreme Court referred to a decision of Lord Denning, indicating that it is completely incorrect to assert that solicitor-client privilege wouldn't attach to legal advice that is provided from government counsel to their client in the government context.

And further, the case law reveals various instances in which solicitor-client privilege has been successfully asserted over legal advice contained in high-level documents, including Cabinet documents.

And those passages, those sections are found at paragraph 66 of our factum.

In the particular context here, our submission is that if you look at the indicia of solicitor-client privilege pursuant to the Solosky case -- which I think Mr. Charney took you to this morning -- we are of the view that those indicia are met in the instant case.  What we have here are limited redactions on the basis of solicitor-client privilege.  You can discern the limited nature of them by virtue of the document that you have before you, but we have the three indicia being met.

These are communications between solicitors and their client, namely the Minister of Energy or Cabinet is the client in question, or it's the passing on of such communications by an agent.

Now, I pause there, because significant submissions were made by Mr. Thompson about the propriety of a claim being made in that context, where it's not lawyer A passing on the information to their client; it's lawyer A passing on the information to an agent, who then passes it on to the ultimate client, Cabinet.

The case law is clear.  In fact, the very decision that my friend took you to, the TELUS decision, indicates that passing on of confidential legal advice does not somehow obviate or negate the solicitor-client privilege that attaches thereto.

So if we actually look back at the TELUS decision -- and that's at tab 47 of our materials -- we have in that decision, Madam Chair, the passage cited by the court that Mr. Thompson didn't take you to, but I will read it out for you.

It says at paragraph 19 in Telus, tab 47:

"The paragraphs in question were written by legal counsel upon their request for legal advice by Commission staff.  They were written by legal counsel in his capacity as counsel and not in some other government capacity.  The applicant has suggested that some portions of the paragraphs might not constitute legal advice.  I have reviewed the paragraphs in question and am satisfied the paragraphs contain legal advice and nothing else.  In fact, the paragraphs simply pass on to the Commission Mr. Wilson's legal advice.
"While it might have been preferable to differentiate more precisely the advice of the Telecommunications Directorate from that of the Legal Directorate, this is not necessary.  Privilege is not lost merely because the communication of the legal advice to the client is done by an agent.  It is the substance of the situation that matters not the form."

Clearly, Madam Chair, I don't think it requires much significant analysis to determine that if indeed our branch, the constitutional law branch, was to provide advice on the constitutionality of the very recovery charge at issue and to pass that on to individuals at the Ministry of Energy, who then pass it on to the Minister, it doesn't transform from legal advice that's privileged to policy advice simply in the act of that transfer, which I believe is the upshot of Mr. Thompson's argument.

The other authority supporting this passage in Telus is found in the General Accident Assurance Company case, which is in our materials at tab 44, and the relevant page is page 351.  And Sopinka and Lederman again voices the exact same point at section 14.01 of Sopinka and Lederman, which is at tab 8 of our materials.

Madam Chair, you have the actual substantive explanation of what is -- you have the substantive explanation of what is included in the solicitor-client privileged materials at paragraph 69 of our factum.  I think that's fairly explanatory on its face, and I don't think I need to take you through those materials.

So if I -- that would conclude my submissions in respect of solicitor-client privilege.  If I can be of any assistance with respect to my portion of the submissions, or, Mr. Charney, if you have any questions for him, if you can please let us know.

MS. SPOEL:  No, I think that's fine.  Thank you very much.

MR. VIRANI:  Thank you.
Procedural Matters:


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Vegh, Mr. Millar advised us at the break that you might wish to make some comments.  Is that -- are you making such a request, and, if so -- well, were you planning to ask us?

MR. VEGH:  So I think the answer will be no.  I did hear some things in the submissions that weren't in the factum that took me by surprise, but I think Mr. Warren will cover them off.  If not, I may ask your indulgence at the completion of the reply submissions to speak for a minute or two.

MS. SPOEL:  I think probably not, because Mr. Charney -- you didn't file a factum.  Mr. Charney and Mr. Virani won't have an opportunity to comment on anything you might say, having not filed a factum, and I am not inclined to have some comments from you after Mr. Warren has made reply.

I think the appropriate approach was to provide your comments to Mr. Warren, and I was going to suggest that you consider doing that.  So thank you for that.

Normally -- and we are not usually hidebound by procedure here, but, normally it would only be the moving party who would have an opportunity to reply, and I do note, Mr. Thompson, that the discussion -- the position taken by the Attorney General on the matter of our ability to deal with solicitor-client privilege was in their factum.  So it's not like you were taken by surprise with that by that argument.  So unless it's extremely -- so I am inclined to suggest that -- or to rule that if you have something important to say on -- and your capacity to make submissions at all, I am not sure how hidebound we are going to get by the fact you are an intervenor as opposed to an applicant.

I am not so worried about that, but I think it would be fairest to all if Mr. Warren could perhaps do his reply argument, and if you have any specific issues that you would like him to raise on your behalf, that might be the preferable way of doing it.

What I understand, Mr. Millar, that Board Staff is not intending to make any submissions?

MR. MILLAR:  That is correct, Madam Chair.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, the issue of solicitor-client privilege is one that Mr. Thompson is concerned about, and I don't have any submissions on that point.  So that to the extent that Mr. Thompson is not heard from, then there is no reply to --


MS. SPOEL:  All right.  Then we will allow reply only on that very narrow issue, Mr. Thompson, and why don't -- Mr. Warren, why don't you go first?
Further Submissions by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I am going to respond to the submissions from my friends in the structure in which they prepared their submissions -- sorry, they presented their submissions.

So I will deal with Mr. Charney's cluster of arguments first.  As a framework for that, I am going to return the Panel just very briefly to what Mr. Charney and I, I think, agree is the central test on his portion of the argument, which is the tests set out in McGee.

The rule in the province of Ontario is that you cannot -- a party cannot redact documents for relevance, and there are two tests that are applied.  One is that the material is clearly irrelevant and - it's a conjunctive test - the disclosure needs protection.

And the argument advanced by my friend, Mr. Charney, is that there is a public interest worthy of protection.  And he argues, as I understand it, that the public interest worthy of protection is that these are Cabinet documents, as he has broadly framed them, to include ministerial reference documents.

And he relies for that argument principally on two Supreme Court of Canada decisions, one in -- sorry, two decisions, one in the Carey case and one in the Babcock case.  And with apologies, I am going to take a moment to take you through them, because, in my respectful submission, they do not support his proposition.  Indeed, they contradict his proposition.

I would ask you to turn to my friend's book of materials at page 37.

MS. SPOEL:  Thirty-seven or tab 37?

MR. WARREN:  Tab 37, I apologize.  My overarching submission with respect to both Carey and Babcock is that these are cases in which the central issue before the court was a form of claimed Crown immunity supported by, in one case, an affidavit, and in the other case a certificate under section 39 of the Canada Evidence Act.

They are not cases that deal with the proposition that there is some overarching public interest in Cabinet documents, per se.  Now, if you look at the Carey case at paragraph 10:
"On examination for discovery, the defendants, witnesses claimed an absolute privilege respecting all documents that went to Cabinet and its committees and all documents that emanated from it."


There was a subpoena issue, and in response to the subpoena, the government, and I am about half way through paragraph 10:
"The Government then applied to quash the subpoena, and in support of the application filed an affidavit sworn by Dr. Stewart in which he acknowledged that he had relevant documents under his control but objected to their production on the basis that 'it would not be in the public interest to produce these documents, or to make them available for inspection, even for the limited purposes of this litigation'."


So it's a Crown immunity claim supported by an affidavit.  Now, the content of the affidavit is described just down the page at paragraph 13:
"The basis of the claim for privilege against production of the documents is set forth in the following excerpts from the affidavit..."


And given the hour, I won't read the entire thing, but if you read that page and going over to page 6, you will see the detailed description of why these documents were subject to particular protection.

Now, it's instructive, then, if you follow the history, as the Supreme Court always does -- it gives the judicial history judicial consideration.  And in paragraph 15, you will see that the Divisional Court relied on a generalized principle of the protection of Cabinet documents.

It then goes on in paragraph 16 to the Ontario Court of Appeal, in which, four lines from the top:

"After extensive examination of the case law, he...", that is Justice Thorsen, "concluded that the Crown (i.e., the provincial Government) had no absolute privilege or immunity from disclosure of documents based on either their content or class.  The Crown could, however, claim protection of certain documents from disclosure on the basis of a specified public interest."


Then if you go over to paragraph 38 of the decision, you get the passage which I referred you to this morning, in which the Supreme Court says the appropriate way to make this claim is by way of an affidavit.

So the Carey case does not support the proposition that there is some special interest in Cabinet documents.  It's authority only for the proposition that if you want to claim it, you do it in a particular way in support of an affidavit -- support of an affidavit.

Now, if you turn to the next tab, which is Babcock - again, a decision of the Supreme Court of Canada - and the only issue in Babcock was with respect to section 39 of the Canada Evidence Act and the nature of the certificate that was filed by the government in that case.  It is not authority for the proposition that, absent that context, there is some special protection which attaches to Cabinet documents.

If you look at paragraph 5, you will see that the issue arose from, as it says, it -- that is the government -- delivered a certificate of the Clerk of the Privy Council pursuant to section 39 of the Canada Evidence Act, objecting to the disclosure of 51 documents and any examination thereon on grounds that they contain, quote:

"...information constituting confidences of the Queen's Privy Council for Canada."

And then if you look at paragraph 19, partway through that paragraph, it says:

"It follows that there must be some way of determining that the information for which confidentiality is claimed truly relates to Cabinet deliberations and that it is properly withheld."

And the way to do that is the certificate, or in the case of Kerry is the affidavit.

That case, Babcock, does not, in my respectful submission, support my friend's argument.

So going back to McGee, there are two steps.

One is that they are clearly not relevant, and that was the gravamen of my friend's Mr. Virani's argument and I will deal with that in a minute.  And that there is a public interest to be protected, and I say that the only way that Mr. Charney can do that is through the claim of public interest immunity, supported by an affidavit.

He has not done it, and so that half of the McGee test has not been satisfied in this case.

Let me turn, then, to Mr. Virani's argument.  And remember the test that Mr. Virani has to meet is that the documents that were redacted -- or, sorry, the portions of the documents that are redacted are, quote, "clearly not relevant."  That's the test in McGee.

And he relies on the Connaught case and the Westbank case, and if you turn to tab 12 of my friend's book of authorities, it's the Connaught case.

And if you look at paragraph 26, I quote:

"Although this list of factors, this is the list of factors –-"

I am sorry.  To properly reference it, we should go back to paragraph 25, beginning on the preceding page:
"In Westbank, Gonthier J. established a two-step approach to determine if the government levy is connected to a regulatory scheme.  The first... is to identify the existence of a regulatory scheme.  To do so:

"[A] the court should look for the presence of some or all of the following indicia of a regulatory scheme: ..."

I won't read them; they have been read now to the record three or four times.

But then go to paragraph 26, in which the court says:

"Although this list of factors provides a..."

And I underscore the following words:

"...useful guide."

Not a template, not some iron-bound rule, as Mr. Virani would say, that constrains what you could look at; it's a useful guide.
"...it is not to be treated as if these factors were proscribed by statute.  As stated by Gonthier J., at paragraph 24:  'This is only a list of factors to consider; not all of these factors must be present to find a regulatory scheme.  Nor is this list of factors exhaustive.'"


There is not a word, there is not a line in Westbank or in Connaught which directly or by necessary implication constrains what you can look at in determining whether or not this particular levy fits within a regulatory scheme.  Not one word.

There is no template.  There is no restriction on what you can look at.  It's only on the question of whether or not -- in the determination of whether or not there is a regulatory scheme, and whether this forms part of a complex regulatory scheme.

Now, he refers you, Mr. Virani refers you to the Club Pro case.  There was no extrinsic evidence in that case, because it wasn't required to determine the outcome of the case.  It's not determinative.  It doesn't say you can't look at extrinsic evidence.

Now, the task which you, or indeed a court, were it in your place, is engaged in in this case, given the facts of the case, is the determination of what constitutes a complete, complex code of regulation.

And to determine that, it depends not just on the statutes or the regulations, but on what the scheme consists of, who was charged for what and by whom and for what purposes, and with what penalties.  That's the scope of the factual inquiry that you or a court would have to embark on.

And every case is specific.  You are not limited, nor is any court limited to looking at only the things they looked at in Connaught or the things they looked at in Westbank.  It depends on the nature of the regulation -- sorry, the nature of the instrument involved and the whole regulatory scheme.

And in considering that, we say, with respect, that you are entitled to look at whatever you think is relevant, one portion of which is what are the other programs that were considered and rejected, because this is an anomaly.  As I have said, we will be arguing this is not characteristic of anything we have ever seen as part of the regulatory scheme that we encounter every day.

So you have to remain flexible in what you look at.

Now, Mr. Virani says that if you would consider some or all of the redacted material, you will be overturning established precedent in constitutional litigation.  The implication is that you will be shaking the very foundations of Canadian constitutional law.

If that's not an intra orum argument, I don't know what is.  I also say, with great respect to my friend Mr. Virani, it's nonsense, because what you would be doing is what every court has to do in every indirect case: look at the facts.  Is this properly characterized as part of a regulatory scheme?  And you have to cast your net widely to look at all information that may be relevant to determine that.  As you were directed, as we are all directed by Westbank:  What's the regulatory scheme and does this levy form part of it?

This is not some antiseptic inquiry that you are embarked on, sitting alone in your respective offices.  It involves examining a complex organic structure of regulation in this province, and determining:  Is this properly characterized?  That's part of it.

Now, just by way of conclusion, I want to make one observation about the iron logic -- and I have my friend Mr. Vegh to thank for this argument -- but if you look at the materials that are produced by the Attorney General and look at tab 3 of his factum, as I understand, the iron logic of Mr. Virani's argument is the only thing you can look at is Ontario Regulation 66/10, and you look at it and it has got a formula with some values and a description of a variance account.  That's what he says you could look at.

And if you look at it in that context, I say with respect, Members of the Panel, you will see the absurdity of this; it's a reductio ad absurdum argument.

The analysis has to be broader than that, and among the materials that we have asked for, some of them may not be relevant but some of them clearly are relevant.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you very much.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

Mr. Thompson, you wanted to add something about solicitor privilege?
Further Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Madam Chair.  There was -- I was going to request your permission to respond to the –- just the CME-specific points, and one was with respect to privilege.  The other was with respect to the RJR case.

And if you don't want to hear me on that, I will be quiet, but that was a CME-specific submission that my friend made about distinguishing the RJR case.

So let me do the privilege piece first, and then you can shut me down, if you wish.  I will only be a very few minutes.

And I don't want to make a big deal of this privilege point, but in my respectful submission, the language in the Statutory Powers Procedures Act is sufficient to empower you to determine whether or not privilege exists.

And essentially, what I am concerned about is that someone should be screening the documents to verify that the privilege claim is legitimate.

My friend tells me they have the complete unredacted documents here if you wish to view them for that purpose, and I urge you to do that, because I believe and submit that someone -- that the judicial authority that's going to decide this case should be doing that.

We are here before you instead of a court because the Attorney General, for one, wanted that result.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Thompson, I can't find the tab in the materials that actually has the Statutory Powers Procedure Act.

MR. THOMPSON:  It's tab 5 of my friend's factum.

MS. SPOEL:  Oh, I did have it.  Sorry.  Just so I understand your argument on this, that you obviously -- well, I shouldn't say obviously.  I take it that you agree that section 5.4(1.1) -- sorry, section 5.4(2) does not allow us to authorize the disclosure of privileged information, but what you are saying is that in order to decide whether to authorize a disclosure of certain information, that we have the authority as a court would have to determine whether or not it is privileged in order to exercise -- is that your argument?

MR. THOMPSON:  Exactly.  I see subsection (2) wouldn't be there if you couldn't look at something and decide whether it was privileged or not privileged, because if it's not privileged, then this is saying you can -- by implication, you can order its disclosure.  What you cannot do is order disclosure of privileged information.

So I say, by necessary implication, you have to be able to look at it to see whether it's something that you cannot disclose under this statute.  And the only -- in terms of Sopinka - and that's at tab 8 of my friend's brief - in the paragraph that he cited, the sentence in the middle reads:
"In the absence of express legislative language, regulatory boards, agencies and commissions are not to review solicitor-client confidences..."


I suggest to you that language in the Statutory Powers Procedure Act has no meaning if you can't look at the stuff, and I am not -- I just want somebody to look at it and verify that what's been said is accurate.  And I have made my submissions on whether it's primarily policy or not, is something that you should consider.  That's really all I have to say about that point.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  And my other point, as I say, stems from my friend's attempt to distinguish the RJR case, and I am in your hands.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, I think we have probably heard enough about the RJR case, and we will certainly be reading it for ourselves to see what we can glean from it.  So I am not sure it's going to add a whole lot.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I will go home frustrated.  Thank you very much.

MR. WARREN:  Now, that's an in terrorem argument.

MS. SPOEL:  I think we will consider the question of whether or not we have the authority to look at the question of the documents are -- the redactions that are alleged on the basis of solicitor-client privilege
before -- we will give that some consideration before we have the documents released to us, because the last thing we want to do is -- we can't undo it, and the last thing we would want to do is look at it and then find that we shouldn't have.

I can say, Mr. Thompson, that having looked briefly at the materials we were given, there is not very much of it that's alleged to be solicitor-client-privileged, and it shows up in spots that seem to us that it would be a logical place to have information -- or solicitor-client-privileged information.

So there is nothing that sort of leaps out as a surprise at this stage. However, having said that, we will turn our minds to that, but we won't make a decision on that this afternoon.

So we will reserve our decision on these very interesting points, and thank you, counsel, for excellent submissions.  We are adjourned.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 3:42 p.m.
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